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BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

AlKhaleej Takaful Insurance Company was established in 1979 to provide all 
kinds of conventional insurance and reinsurance services and since then we 
are proud of the experience and distinguished services we offer for over 40 
years. On 2010, it has become a Takaful Insurance company in compliance 
with Islamic Sharia` principles.

Honored by the trust that our valued customers have placed in us, we always 
strive to continue to provide our services in a distinctive way, and value the 
precious time of both corporate and individual customers, reinforcing the 
confidence and credibility that we are proud of.

Since its inception, the company has, and still is, contributing to the process 
of economic progress and development witnessed by the country under its 
wise leadership, through providing insurance coverage for governmental 
infrastructure projects, and through insuring assets and property for 
companies and individuals.

The company has a strong balance sheet with an adequate capital base 
and excellent liquidity ratios,- supported by reinsurance agreements with 
distinguished international reinsurance companies with prominent credit 
ratings

WHO WE ARE

SHK. ABDULLA BIN AHMED AL AHMED AL-THANI
CHAIRMAN

SHK. MOH’D BIN FAHAD MOH’D J. AL-THANI
VICE CHAIRMAN

SHK. ABDUL RAHMAN BIN FAHAD MOH’D J. AL-
THANI

MANAGING DIRECTOR

MR. ABDULLA ALI MOH’D A. AL-ANSARI
MEMBER

MR. SHAHEEN JASSIM HAMAD AL SULITI
MEMBER

SHK. JASSIM HAMAD NASER J. AL-THANI
MEMBER

MR. NASER KHALID KHALIFA A. AL-ATIA
MEMBER

SHK. MOH’D ABDUL RAHMAN J. AL- THANI
MEMBER

MR. SAAD NASER RASHID S. AL-KAABI
MEMBER
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CHAIRMAN’S FOREWORD 
TO SHAREHOLDERS 

Dear Shareholders,

Greetings,

On behalf of the Board members, I am pleased to 
welcome you and to present the financial results, 
company performance, and governance report 
for the financial year ending 31/12/2023 . 

The year 2023 was a new episode in the company’s 
sustainable growth journey, in implementation the 
ambitious strategy set by the Board. During the 
year 2023, the world witnessed a wide range of 
major economic challenges, the most important 
of which are inflation and high interest rates, in 
addition to the continued intense competition 
locally in the insurance market. Despite this, and 
thanks to God Almighty, the company achieved 
growth in its financial results, as net profits rose to 
64,574,585 Qatari riyals, a growth of 14.2% over 
the year 2022, as a result of the increase in various 
investment returns to 105,014,257, in addition 
to the growth in overall technical performance 
indicators. For the insurance sector, where 
contribution increased to reach 332,982,311 
Qatari riyals, a growth of about 5%, and the net 
surplus in Takaful operations increased to reach a 
record high of 73,055,965 Qatari riyals, a growth 
of 8.6% over the previous year. As a result of this 
performance, the Board of Directors recommends 
distributing a cash divident to shareholders 
amounting to 12% of the company’s capital .

During the year, the Board of Directors gave 
priority to continuing to enhance governance 
policies by reviewing and updating the regulatory 
controls that protect and benefit the company’s 
shareholders and policyholders. The company also 
continued to improve and develop its services and 

improve its customers’ experience, as during the 
year we developed our electronic platforms and 
means of communication with customers, and we 
also opened our third branch. In addition, during 
the month of October, we signed a strategic 
partnership with Cigna, one of the largest health 
insurance companies in the world, out of our belief 
in the Qatari market, especially health insurance, 
and the future opportunities therein.

Finally, since human capital was and continues to 
be the primary source of success, the company 
continued to attract highly qualified technical and 
financial personnel, and to develop its cadres to 
improve the quality of services we provide to our 
customers, and to implement the next steps in our 
ambitious plans.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I express my 
sincere gratitude and appreciation to His Highness 
Sheikh Tamim bin Hamad Al Thani, and his wise 
government, and His Excellency the Governor of 
Qatar Central Bank for their continuously support, 
encouragement, guidance and sincere efforts 
that have had a great impact on the growth and 
stability of the insurance sector in the State of 
Qatar.

The Board would also express its thanks to the 
Company’s valued customers for their continuous 
support, as well as the executive management 
and all employees for their efforts that led to 
achievements of these results. 

Thank you

Sheikh/ Abdullah bin Ahmed Abdullah Al Thani 
Chairman of the Board

10
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CEO’s Message

Dear Shareholders,

Greetings,

I am pleased to present to you the annual 
report of Al Khaleej Takaful Insurance 
Company for the year 2023. 

We are proud to be one of the leading 
insurance service providers in Qatar 
with innovative insurance solutions that 
comply with Islamic Sharia principles. The 
company has continued - by the grace of 
God - to grow and achieved an increase 
in profits by XX% with growth in technical 
areas, including total contributions, net 
contribution, and net technical results. 
In this regard, and due to the continued 
quality of our technical performance and 
the development of corporate governance 
systems in the company, our credit rating 
has been upgraded from BBB to BBB+ 
(stable) by S&P Global in May 2023.

Since inception, our company has 
maintained stability, quality and diversity 
in providing its insurance products to our 
valued customers, by investing in a team 
of distinguished professionals in various 

lines of insurance business, which in return 
helped us meet the requirements of the 
fast-growing Qatari market and maintain 
growth and development in quantity and 
quality, with the help and support of our 
partners.   

To build on our strengths, the company 
has developed a long-term strategic 
plan based on great confidence in the 
continuous growth of the Qatari economy 
and the insurance sector, and accordingly, 
the results of the year 2022 was a step in 
this plan to be followed - God willing – by 
other steps of growth in the future.  

In conclusion, I would like to thank all the 
company’s customers for their trust, and I 
also would like to thank our partners in the 
sector and all the team for their sincere 
efforts during the year.

Thanks,,

Mr. Abdullah Bin Ali Al-Assiri 

Chief Executive Officer

12
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REPORT OF THE 
FATWA AND SHARI’A 
SUPERVISORY 2023

Dear Shareholders,

Greetings,

All praise and Thanks be to Allah, and peace 
and Blessing be upon His Messenger. Based 
on the letter of assignment, we present to 
your attendees the following report:

We have reviewed the principles used and 
the transactions and applications contracts 
provided by Alkhaleej Takaful Insurance 
Company during the period from 01/01/2023 
to 31/12/2023.

We are responsible for implementing 
the provisions and principles of Shari’a 
management. Our responsibility is limited to 
expressing an independent opinion based 
on our monitoring of Takaful operations and 
management guidance. In compliance with 
the provisions of the Shari’s regarding Al 
Khaleej Takaful Insurance Company and in 
preparing a report to the shareholders.

We conducted our audit, which included 
checking the documentation and procedure of 
the company through legal auditing. We also 
planned and implemented our monitoring in 
order to obtain all the information that we 
deemed necessary to provide us with sufficient 
evidence to give reasonable assurance that 
Gulf Takaful Company did not violate the 
provisions of Isalamic Shari’a.

We have calculated zakaah on the equity for 
this year, noting that the shareholders are 
paying zkaah on their shares and no zakaah 
on the participants in their contributions.

We believe that:

1.	The contracts and transactions concluded 
by AlKhaleej Takaful Insurance during the 
year ended 31/12/2023, which we have 
reviewed do not conflict with the provisions 
and principled of Islamic law.

2. AlKhaleej Takaful Insurance has already 
separated the two accounts, the 
accountholders account and the company 
account, and takes into account the 
principles of Takaful Insurance and its 
foundation, and the process of surplus is 
valid on the basis of Islamic insurance.

3. The company has committed to the 
percentage of speculation and agency 
that belong to the company according 
to the decision of the Fatwa and Sharia 
Supervisory Board

4. That the distribution of profits and the loss 
of loss in investment account consistent with 
the basis we adopted in accordance with 
the provisions and principles of Islamic law.

5. We reviewed the financial position, balance 
sheet and income and expenses account of 
Gulf Takaful Insurance Company for 2023. 

We discussed the shareholders account, the 
account of the participants, the calculation 
of profits and surpluses, and the validity 
of the information on the legal aspects, 
and found them not inconsistent with the 
general principles and principles of Islamic 
insurance.

We would like to thank the Board of Directors, 
the Executive Chairman and the Executive 
Management, which has been able to liquidate 
all shares that do not comply with Islamic 
Shari’a, while adhering to the provisions of 

the Shai’a. To build the Islamic economy and 
achieve its goals.

We also pray to Allah to bless the shareholders 
and dealer with the company, and to protect 
our dear country from any misfortune.

Dr . Ali Mohiuddin Qara Daghi 
Head of the Fatwa & Shari’a Supervisory
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%Y-2023%Y-2022Y-2021 

2%29,877,18060%29,283,30518,318,284Revenues - Investment and Speculation
8%75,128,52717%69,296,66159,405,295Revenues - Insurance

573%6,003,408-19%892,6841,106,704Other Revenues
-7%(43,907,657)-25%(40,863,571)(30,929,731)Administrative and General Expenses

-24%(2,363,360)67%(1,899,789)(5,799,341)Depreciation and Amortization
1%(163,524)-8%(165,495)(153,196)Rent Expenses

14%64,574,58941%56,543,79540,129,476Net Profit
14%0.25341%0.2210.157Earnings Per Share
16%(4,101,023)-214%(4,863,710)4,265,140Shareholders' Deficit/Surplus

Financial Performance and Achievements
Financial Performance Summary

(Restated)

• The company achieved a net profit of 64,574,589 Qatari 
Riyal for the year 2023, a growth of 14% compared to a 
net profit of 56,543,795 Qatari Riyal for the same period 
of the previous year.

• The earnings per share reached 0.253 Qatari Riyal for the 
year 2023 compared to 0.221 Qatari Riyal for the year 
2022.

• The total investment revenues amounted to 42,165,002 
Qatari Riyal for the year 2023, compared to 30,212,966 
Qatari Riyal for the same period in 2022, marking a 
growth of 40%.

• The insurance revenues reached 75,128,527 Qatari Riyal 
for the year 2023, compared to 69,296,661 Qatari Riyal 
for the same period in 2022, with a growth of 8%.

• The “other revenues” item increased to 6,003,408 Qatari 
Riyal for the year 2023 as a result of collections from the 
rental case.

%Y-2023%Y-2022
(Restated)

Y-2021 

56%4,801,167132%3,075,9161,324,717Dividends from investments in listed companies
39%711,9820%510,971510,752Investment revenue through the income statement (QInvest 

- Sukuk)
114%16,433,815498%7,696,6691,286,697Revenues from investments in unlisted and subsidiary com-

panies
-80%648,154-76%3,267,44213,431,037Net profit realized through equity rights
64%(49,470)0%(137,655)-  Net profit realized from the sale of investment properties

13091%128,2200%(987)-  Net profit realized from the sale of fixed assets
-7%12,205,36043%13,069,3109,168,158Rent Expenses

167%7,285,77467%2,731,3001,633,323Deposit Expenses
40%42,165,00210%30,212,96627,354,684Total Investment Revenues
-81%(5,830,467)64%(3,229,107)(9,036,400)Decrease in the value of domestic stock investments in the 

stock market
0%(4,253,293)0%-  -  Decrease in the value of right-of-use assets

-194%(2,150,003)0%2,299,446-  Decrease in fair value of investment properties
0%(54,059)0%-  -  Decrease in the value of accounts receivable
2%29,877,18060%29,283,30518,318,284Net Investment Revenues

• Net investment revenues amounted to 29,877,180 Qatari Riyal for the year 2023, with a growth of 2% compared 
to the same period in 2022, which was 29,283,305 Qatari Riyal.

• Profits from investments in listed companies reached 4,801,167 Qatari Riyal for the year 2023 compared to 
3,075,916 for the year 2022, a growth of 56%.

• The company took provisions worth 12,287,822 Qatari Riyal for the decrease in value of various assets (investment 
portfolio stocks, right-of-use assets, and the decrease in fair value of properties).

• Profits from investment revenues in subsidiary companies reached 16,433,815 for the year 2023 compared to 
7,696,669 for the year 2022, a growth of 114%, due to the increase in profits of (Al-Maktab Al-Muwahhad, 
Bahrain National, Nishan Company).

• Deposit revenues amounted to 7,285,774 Qatari Riyal for the year 2023 compared to 2,731,300 for the year 2022, 
a growth of 167%.

Profits grew to 64,574,589, an increase of 14%

Growth in most of the company’s technical performance indicators

Growth in investment returns by 41%

Increase in costs by 7%

Working on developing policies, procedures, and systems

Market expansion through the renewal of electronic platforms, the opening 
of a branch at Place Vendome Mall, and conducting several advertising 
campaigns during the year 2023.

BUSINESS 
PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

The numbers are in ‘000 Qatari Riyal.
Net Profit
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Net Surplus from Insurance Operations
The numbers are in ‘000 Qatari Riyal.

The motor department contributed significantly to the underwriting results, achieving 38,382,985 Qatari Riyal with 
a growth of 39%, followed by fire and general accidents, achieving 25,253,815 Qatari Riyal. Next came the medical 
and Takaful (Islamic insurance) division, achieving 6,031,748 Qatari Riyal, a 96% increase, followed by the marine 
department, achieving 3,432,926 Qatari Riyal.

Investment Revenues

Investment Sector Performance

31/12/202331/12/2022
(Restated)

31/12/2021

TotalShare-
holders

Sub-
scribers

TotalShare-
holders

Subscrib-
ers

TotalShare-
holders

Sub-
scribers

9,886,4957,285,7742,600,7214,270,1292,731,3001,538,8292,136,3781,633,322503,056Cash and 
balances with 
banks

711,982711,982-  510,971510,971-  510,752510,752-  Investments 
through income 
statement

5,635,9374,801,167834,7703,907,0363,075,916831,1202,234,8671,324,717910,150Investments 
at fair value 
(stocks)

13,327,36012,205,3601,122,00013,579,31013,069,310510,0009,168,1589,168,158-  Real estate 
investments

16,433,81516,433,815-  7,696,6697,696,669-  1,286,6971,286,697-  Unlisted invest-
ments

(49,470)(49,470)-  (137,655)(137,655)-  -  -  -  Profit realized 
from the sale 
of investment 
properties

648,154648,154-  3,265,9413,267,442(1,501)13,355,29813,431,037(75,739)Profit realized 
through equity 
rights

46,594,27342,036,7824,557,49133,092,40130,213,9532,878,44815,336,85227,354,6831,337,467Total

%Y-2023Y-2022
(Restated)

Y-2021Y-2020 

8%72,622,26467,272,19158,449,57433,930,119Wekala

22%2,460,7542,010,950945,3212,948,884Mudareb profit

237%45,509 13,520 10,400204,941Other Insurance Revenues

8%75,128,52769,296,66159,405,29537,083,944Total Insurance Revenues

Revenues - Insurance
The numbers are in ‘000 Qatari Riyal.

Insurance Sector Performance
The numbers are in ‘000 Qatari Riyal.

• The company achieved its highest underwriting surplus since its establishment, registering 73,101,475 Qatari 
Riyal compared to 67,382,262 Qatari Riyal as of 31/12/2022 (an 8% growth). 

• Total policies increased by 4%, reaching 332,982,311 Qatari Riyal in 2023 compared to 318,999,715 Qatari Riyal 
in 2022. 

• The company continued its gradual increase in retention, leading to an increase in net subscriptions as of 
31/12/2023, achieving 185,310,732 Qatari Riyal compared to 165,166,901 Qatari Riyal as of 31/12/2022.

• Paid claims increased by 29% during the year due to an increase in medical insurance compensations by 27 
million Qatari Riyal due to the increase in subscriptions in the last and current year, car insurances by 3.5 million 
Qatari Riyal which were released from the reserves for the previous year, and fire and general accidents by 8 
million Qatari Riyal due to an increase in the number of claims for this type of insurance

Net Surplus from Insurance Operations
The numbers are in ‘000 Qatari Riyal.

The numbers are in ‘000 Qatari Riyal.

Total Insurance Revenues
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3.  GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AT AL KHALEEJ 
TAKAFUL INSURANCE :

The Board of Directors is keen to review and update the company’s governance applications whenever necessary, to 
develop rules of professional conduct, to present the public interest of the company, and the rights of stakeholders 
over the private interest.

The company is always updating and developing its procedures and structures to ensure its continuity in compliance 
with governance standards and risk management to achieve transparency, justice and social responsibility.

In addition to the efforts that have been made, the Company will continue its efforts to ensure compliance with the 
provisions of the Code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
AT GLANCE

1.  COMPANY’S PROFILE

AlKhaleej Takaful Insurance (AKTI) Company was established in 1979 as a traditional insurance company to provide 
insurance and reinsurance services of all kinds. It is a public shareholding company listed on the Doha Securities 
Market (Qatar Stock Exchange) since 1997.

Since 2010, the company has turned into a Takaful insurance company in consistent with the principles of Islamic 
Sharia. The company is proud of its experience and outstanding services provided for more than 40 years.

The Company always strives to develop its Insurance policies and related services and to provide them in a 
distinguished manner to its customers with pride in their trust and to maintain their loyalty to the Company and 
their valuable time.

Since its foundation, the company has contributed to the development and economic development of the country 
under its wise leadership by providing insurance coverage for government infrastructure projects and securing 
assets and property for companies and individuals.

The company’s annual balance sheets confirm that it has a sufficient and strong capital base, and a good liquidity 
ratio, supported by reinsurance agreements with leading international reinsurance companies having prestigious 
credit rating.

2.  SCOPE OF IMPLEMENTATION OF GOVERNANCE 
AND ADHERENCE TO ITS PRINCIPLES :

Corporate Governance entails a collection of systems by which a company is controlled, directed and operated-
with specific focus on people, policies and processes, with the aim of meeting our customers’, shareholders’ and 
other stakeholders’ expectations.

The company is committed to the application of the principles of corporate governance to highest level and has 
derived its values from a system which integrates ethics, corporate integrity and leading compliant practices. 
Transparency, fairness, disclosure and accountability have been central to the working philosophy of the Company, 
its management and the Board of Directors.

To this end, the Company’s corporate governance framework takes into account the principles adopted and 
standards set by Qatar Financial Markets Authority pursuant to Decision No.5 of 2016, and Principles of Governance 
for Insurance Companies issued by the Qatar Central Bank, taking into account achieving justice among stakeholders, 
nondiscrimination between them, promoting transparency and disclosure, and making information available to 
them in a timely manner.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1.  THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ STRUCTURE AND 
COMPOSITION :

In accordance with Articles of Association, AKTI Board is currently composed of nine (9) members elected for the 
period (2021-2023) at the company’s general assembly meeting held on 28th March 2021. The board members are 
in compliance with the conditions set by the law and hold a range of experience in the related industry and the 
financial sector. Details of our Board members are below:

S. 
No Name of Member Position Capacity

Shares

Numbers Percentage

1.
Sheikh. Abdullah bin Ahmed 
Abdullah Al Thani - Le Mirage 
Real Estate

Chairman •Non-Independent
•Non-executive 2,552,790 1%

2. Sheikh. Muhammad bin Fahad 
Muhammad Jabr Al Thani Vice Chairman •Non-Independent

•Non-executive 4,484,199 1.76%

3. Sheikh. Abdul Rahman bin 
Fahad Muhammad Jabr Al Thani Managing Director •Non-Independent

•Non-executive 12,763,851 4.99%

4. Mr. Abdullah Ali Muhammad 
Al-Ansari

Member of the 
Board of Directors

•Non-Independent
•Non-executive 2,576,000 1.01%

5. Mr. Shaheen Jassim Hamad Al-
Sulaiti

Member of the 
Board of Directors •Independent - -

6. Sheikh. Jassim bin Hamad 
Nasser Jassim Al Thani

Member of the 
Board of Directors •Independent - -

7. Mr. Nasser Khaled Khalifa 
Abdullah Al-Attiyah

Member of the 
Board of Directors •Independent - -

8.
Sheikh. Mohammed bin Abdul 
Rahman Jabr Al Thani - Dar Al 
Amaal Real Estate

Member of the 
Board of Directors

•Non-Independent
•Non-executive 3,216,894 1,26%

9. Mr. Saad Nasser Rashid Saree Al 
Kaabi – Tamasek Real Estate

Member of the 
Board of Directors

•Non-Independent
•Non-executive 2,553,000 1%

In compliance with Article (6) of the QFMA Corporate Governance Code, one third of the Board is composed of 
independent members and the majority is composed of non-executive Board members.

2.  BOARD OF DIRECTORS PROFILES :

The members of the Board of Directors are qualified with sufficient knowledge and satisfy the conditions for Board 
membership as set out in Article 5 of the QFMA Corporate Governance Code. A brief profile of BoD members is as 
follows:
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3.  COMBINATION OF POSITIONS :

Each Board member has provided the renewed annual written acknowledgment, for the year 2023,  to the Company 
Secretary confirming that he does not and shall not combine board membership positions in a manner that would 
breach the requirements of the QFMA Corporate Governance Code under article (7) .  

4.  KEY FUNCTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF 
THE BOARD :

The Board of Directors’ role is to represent the shareholders and be accountable to them for creating and delivering 
sustainable value through the effective governance of the business. The Board is responsible for approving the 
overall business strategy of AKTI and for ensuring that a high standard of governance is adhered to throughout the 
business.  This role has been fully illustrated through the Articles of Association of the Company and its relevant 
by-laws, the Commercial Companies Law No. (11) for 2015 and the Corporate Governance Code for Companies and 
Legal Entities listed on the main market issued by Qatar Financial Markets Authority, in particular articles (8) and 
(9), which were incorporated in the Board of Directors Charter. The following are the responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors as per the Board of Directors Charter:

a)	 Oversee the Company’s management in the optimal way;
b)	 Develop systems and controls for internal control and general supervision thereof;
c)	 Ensure compliance with relevant laws, regulations,  company’s articles of association and its commitment to 

disclose information to shareholders, creditors, and other stakeholders;
d)	 Exercise sound and objective judgement on all corporate matters independent from executive management;
e)	 Ensure the effectiveness of, and the reporting on, the Company’s system of corporate governance;
f)	 Develop clear and specific policies and procedures for membership in the Board of Directors;
g)	 Protect the Company from illegal, arbitrary or inappropriate business and practices;
h)	 Develop a formal policy that regulates the relationship with stakeholders in order to protect them and preserve 

their rights;
i)	 Develop policies and procedures that ensure the company’s compliance with laws and regulations;
j)	 Responsible for inviting all shareholders to attend the meeting of the General Assembly in the manner 

prescribed by law;
k)	 Responsible for the approval of nominations for appointment and preparation of the succession plan for senior 

executive management;
l)	 Developing a clear and written policy that defines the basis and method for awarding board members’ 

remunerations, incentives and rewards of the senior executive management and employees of the company; 
m)	 Inviting all shareholders to attend the meeting of the General Assembly in the manner prescribed by law;
n)	 Approval of nominations for appointment and preparation of the succession plan for senior executive 

management;
o)	 Establishing a mechanism for dealing and cooperating with financial service providers, credit rating and other 

service providers;
p)	 Develop awareness programs necessary to spread the culture of self-monitoring and risk management in the 

company.

The AKTI has not undertaken any loan or mortgage arrangement during the year. The AKTI has sold a property as 
normal course of business of the company in compliance with its article of association.

5.  DELEGATION OF AUTHORITIES :

Without prejudice to the terms of reference of the General Assembly, the Board shall assume all powers and 
authorities necessary for the management of the company and may delegate to its committees the exercise of 
some of its powers, and it may form one or more special committees to carry out specific tasks, provided that the 
decision to form them stipulates the nature of those tasks.

S. 
No Name of Member Profile (Academic Qualification & Experience)

1.
Sheikh. Abdullah 
bin Ahmed 
Abdullah Al Thani

Sheikh. Abdullah, is a Qatari Businessman. He holds an Honors degree in 
International relations and Political economics from the United Kingdom. He is 
serving other entities in following capacity:

1.  Sharaka Holdings - Chairman BoD.
2.  Tasali Entertainment (Kidzania Doha) – Chairman BoD.
3.  Bahrain National Life Insurance Company – Vice Chairman.
4.  Alijarah Holding Q.S.C – Member BoD.

2.

Sheikh. Muhammad 
bin Fahad 
Muhammad Jabr Al 
Thani

Sheikh. Muhammad bin Fahad, is a Qatari Businessman. He holds Bachelor’s degree 
in Public Administration. He has served at various key positions in Doha Bank and 
Qatar Central Bank.

3.

Sheikh. Abdul 
Rahman bin Fahad 
Muhammad Jabr Al 
Thani

Sheikh. Abdul Rahman bin Fahad, is a Qatari Businessman. He holds Bachelor’s 
degree in Business Administration. He has served at various key positions in Doha 
Bank and  as Board member in other private equities.

4.
Mr. Abdullah Ali 
Muhammad Al-
Ansari

Mr. Abdullah, is a Qatari Businessman. He holds Bachelors degree in Geography. He 
is serving as Board member in following other entities:
1.     Zad Holding Company;
2.     Nishan Real Estate Investment and Development Company; and
3.     Bahrain National Life Insurance Company

5. Mr. Shaheen Jassim 
Hamad Al-Sulaiti

Mr. Shaheen, is a Qatari Businessman, and he holds Bachelor Degree in Law. He has 
got over 34 years of experience in strategic political security.

6.
Sheikh. Jassim bin 
Hamad Nasser 
Jassim Al Thani

Sheikh. Jassim, holds Master Degree in Finance and management from University 
of Essex – UK. He is serving as advisor to the CEO Al Diyar Qatari Group and member 
BoD in Qatar Bahrain Bridge Foundation. He has got extensive knowledge and 
experience in financial data analysis, new business development, risk management, 
banking systems, corporate finance, entrepreneurship and development of real 
estate investment projects in Europe and USA.

7.
Mr. Nasser Khaled 
Khalifa Abdullah 
Al-Attiyah

Mr. Nasser, holds Bachelor degree in Law - Graduated from the British Royal Naval 
College. He has served in Legal Office of Coasts and Borders Security at the Ministry 
of Interior. He is serving as Board Member in Doha Bank .

8.
Sheikh. Mohammed 
bin Abdul Rahman 
Jabr Al Thani

Sheikh. Mohammad, is a Qatar Businessman. He is studying at South Eastern 
University, UK, majoring in Business Administration, He is serving as Board member 
in other private equities .

9.
Mr. Saad Nasser 
Rashid Saree Al 
Kaabi

Mr. Saad, holds Master Degree in International Business from Coventry University 
– UK and a Bachelors degree in Business Administration from University of applied 
Sciences Jordan. He is serving as member Board of Directors at Widam Food 
Company and Lesha Bank.
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S. 
No Name of Member Position Meetings Attended

1. Sheikh. Abdullah bin Ahmed Abdullah Al Thani Chairman 6/6

2. Sheikh. Muhammad bin Fahad Muhammad Jabr Al 
Thani Vice Chairman 4/6

3. Sheikh. Abdul Rahman bin Fahad Muhammad Jabr Al 
Thani

Managing 
Director 6/6

4. Mr. Abdullah Ali Muhammad Al-Ansari Member 6/6

5. Mr. Shaheen Jassim Hamad Al-Sulaiti Member 6/6

6. Sheikh. Jassim bin Hamad Nasser Jassim Al Thani Member 6/6

7. Mr. Nasser Khaled Khalifa Abdullah Al-Attiyah Member 5/6

8. Sheikh. Mohammed bin Abdul Rahman Jabr Al Thani Member 4/6

9. Mr. Saad Nasser Rashid Saree Al Kaabi Member 6/6

9.  BOARD MEETINGS SCHEDULE :

Meetings of the Board of Directors convened as per following schedule:

S. No Board Meeting Date of Board Meeting

1. First meeting of the Board of Directors February 21, 2023

2. Second meeting of the Board of Directors March 15, 2023

3. Third meeting of the Board of Directors April 30, 2023

4.  Fourth meeting of the Board of Directors July 31, 2023

5. Fifth meeting of the Board of Directors October 29. 2023

6.  Sixth meeting of the Board of Directors December 13, 2023

10.  BOARD PERFORMANCE /ACHIEVEMENTS :

In 2023, the Board consistently convened a series of regular meetings, ensuring no fewer than (6) sessions throughout 
the annual financial year. These meetings were strategically designed to achieve essential governance objectives 
and oversee the successful implementation of key initiatives. Noteworthy accomplishments and milestones reached 
by the Board during this period are summarized below:

A.	 Comprehensive Strategic Plan, Work Plan and Estimated Budget: 

The board discussed the revised comprehensive strategic plan and the company’s core objectives in light of expected 
changes in the Qatari insurance market. Based on this, the board formulated action plans and risk management 
policies and approved them. The estimated budget and long-term action plan for the coming years were also 
discussed.

AKTI maintains a clear separation between the roles of the Chairman, Managing Director and Chief Executive 
Officer with a clear division of responsibilities as follows: 

a)	 The Chairman is responsible for the operation, leadership and governance of the Board, ensuring its overall 
effectiveness;

b)	 The Managing Director is the focal point for communication between CEO and the board of Directors in matters 
assigned to him by the Board of Directors in strategic and operational principles.

c)	 The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the management of the business and implementation of the 
Company’s overall strategy and policy.

6.  DUTIES OF BOARD CHAIRMAN :

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring the proper functioning of the Board in an appropriate and effective 
manner, including timely receipt of complete and accurate information by the Board Members and his duties and 
responsibilities including, but not limited to, chairing the Board and general meetings ensuring efficient conduct 
of meetings, encouraging effective participation of Board members.The key duties and responsibilities of the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors defined in the Board Charter, are as follows:

a)	 Approving the agenda for each meeting of the Board of Directors;
b)	 Responsible for the workflow of the Board of Directors in an appropriate and effective way;
c)	 Ensuring that the members of the Board of Directors obtain the information, documents and records of the 

company in a timely manner;
d)	 Ensuring that the Board discusses all key issues effectively and in a timely manner;
e)	 Encouraging members to participate in the Board’s affairs to ensure that the Board works in the interest of the 

company;
f)	 Creating effective communication channels with Shareholders and ensure their opinions is heard on the Board;
g)	 Promoting constructive relations between Non-Executive & Executive members of the Board; and
h)	 Keeping the members constantly informed about implementation of provisions of the Code.

7.  OBLIGATIONS OF BOARD MEMBERS :

Each member of Board of Directors accepts and acknowledges the obligations owed to the Company as set out 
in the Board Charter in accordance with the requirements of Article 12 of the QFMA Corporate Governance Code 
which include but not limited to the following:

a)	 Participation in the meetings of the Board of Directors, its committees, providing opinion on strategic matters, 
key appointments, operating model and performance of the company;

b)	 Prioritize interests of the company and its stakeholders over their personal interests;
c)	 Monitor the company’s performance in achieving its planned objectives and review performance reports on 

periodic basis;
d)	 Ensures compliance with the development in rules related to corporate governance;
e)	 Provide their skills, experiences and qualifications to the Board of Directors, its committees by attending 

meetings;
f)	 Effective participation in the Company’s general assemblies, and achieving its members’ demands in a balanced 

and fair manner;
g)	 Disclosure of financial and trade relations, and litigants, including the judicial, which may affect negatively on 

carrying out the tasks and functions assigned to them; and
h)	 Not to make any statements, data or Information without prior written permission from the Chairman.

8.  BOARD MEETINGS :

AKTI held a total of six (6) BoD meetings during the financial year ended on December 31st 2023. Details of meetings 
attended by each Board member is provided hereunder:
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13.  BOARD REMUNERATION :

Law No. (11) of 2015, the “Promulgating the Commercial Companies Law” (the “Commercial Companies Law”), and 
the QFMA Corporate Governance Code requires that Board remuneration shall not exceed 5% of the Company’s 
net profit after deductions to the legal reserve, and payment of dividends of 5% of the paid-up capital.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company and the provisions of Qatar commercial companies 
law no. 11 of 2015, the Board of Directors’ remuneration for the year 2023 was recommended to be QAR 2,440,000 
by the Board of Directors. This proposal to be presented to the shareholders as Agenda Item #  3 in the subsequent 
Annual General meeting of the company held on March 10th 2024 and to be approved by the General Assembly 
subject to prior notification of same to regulatory bodies.

14.   BOARD COMMITTEES :

The Board has established three Board Committees :

•	 Audit and Risk Committee
•	 Policies, Remuneration, Nominations and Governance Committee
•	 Investment Committee

The above committees assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities. The Committees operate in line with their 
respective charters approved by the Board. The charters set out their roles, responsibilities, scope of authority, 
composition, and procedures for reporting to the Board. The charter of each committee has verified that it is in line 
with the Articles of Association of the Company and the Commercial Companies Law No. 11 for 2015, the Corporate 
Governance Code of the Qatar Financial Markets Authority as well as the related instructions of the Qatar Central 
Bank. 

A.	 Audit and Risk Committee :

Composition of Committee and details of meeting:

The Audit Committee, appointed by the Board of Directors, consists of 3 independent members., the Committee 
assists AKTI’s Board in overseeing the integrity of the Company’s financial statements. It also provides consultancy 
to the Board on the efficiency and adequacy of internal control systems and arrangements for risk management. 
The Committee is also responsible for ensuring that internal and external audit functions are independent and 
objective. In addition, the Committee advises the Board on all matters that need attention and seek a decision. The 
Committee also puts great importance on investigating any violations in the Company. The composition of Audit 
Committee is as follows:

B.	 Company’s Performance: 

The Board followed up and monitored the financial performance of the company and discussed and approved its 
quarterly and annual financial statements

C.	 Performance of the committees emanating from the Board: 

Elected in 2021, the board promptly established the committees, aligning with legal and governance regulations. 
Throughout the year, the board closely monitored and assessed their performance, including:

I.  Audit and Risk Committee Performance: 

In 2023, the board diligently assessed the committee’s effectiveness, reviewing discussions primarily cantered on 
internal control systems, risk management, external auditors’ nomination, and oversight of their activities. The 
board approved the internal audit plan, audit reports, anti-money laundering initiatives, and adopted policies and 
procedures.

II.  Investment Committee: 

The board assessed the committee’s performance and examined its deliberations on the approved investment 
strategy, securities and fixed income portfolio, and real estate investment portfolio. The board approved the 
discussions and the ensuing recommendations of the committee.

III.  Policies, Remuneration, Nomination and Governance Committee: 

The Board followed up on the performance of the committee, reviewed and approve the criteria for determining 
annual employee rewards, recommendation of board of directors’ rewards, governance report, and the nomination 
and election policy for board members. The board approved the committee’s nominations to represent the 
Company on the Boards of Bahrain National Life Assurance Company, Neshan Real Estate Investment Company 
and Asas Industrial Projects Company. 

11.  BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ EVALUATION :

A self-evaluation of the performance of the Board and its committees was carried out according to the questionnaire 
form approved by the Board. 

The Nominations Committee reviewed the self-evaluation forms and submitted its report to the Board of Directors, 
which evaluates the overall performance of the Board and its committees in accordance with the requirements of 
the governance framework. 

The results of the evaluation showed that the Board of Directors had fully complied with the provisions of laws and 
regulations, the governance framework, the transparency and disclosure procedures and any other regulations 
and rules governing the Board of Directors mandate. Accordingly, the Board’s performance showed its supposed 
strengths and did not show any weakness.

12.  BOARD MEMBERS’ INDUCTION AND 
CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT :

AKTI’s executive management keeps the Board Members fully cognizant of all significant requirements, rules and 
regulations relating to general corporate governance through constant updates provided to the Board Members 
during the Board meetings and Audit Committee meetings. 
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Key Accomplishments of Policies, Remuneration, Nominations and Governance Committee 

In 2023, the Committee completed a number of major works including: 

First: Governance and Policies:

a)	 Nomination of Company’s representatives on the Board of Directors of the Bahrain National Life Insurance 
Company for the years 2023-2025.

b)	 Review and approval of the annual self-evaluation forms for the financial year 2023.
c)	 Review and approval of the basis of calculating bonuses in the company and approved them.
d)	 Discussion of the governance report and recommendation to the board of directors for approval.
e)	 Review and approval of Nomination and Election Policy for Board Membership.
f)	 Discussion on the activity report of the committee during financial year 2023.

Second: Board and executive management remuneration :

g)	 The committee discussed the remuneration of the members of Board of Directors in light of law and the 
Governance code, and approved it.

h)	 The committee discussed the remuneration of the executive management and employees in light of the 
company’s performance and then approved it.

Based on the annual evaluation of the committee’s work, the Board of Directors is satisfied with its performance, 
implementation of its responsibilities and recommendations made during the year ending on December 31, 2023.

C.	 Investment Committee and its meetings:

The Investment committee assists the Board in everything related to the investment policy and strategy, discusses 
available investment initiatives and opportunities before it submits its recommendations in this regard, monitors 
the performance of the securities portfolio, develops the investment strategy in accordance with the mandate 
granted to it by the Board, and submits its reports to the Board. The committee details along with number of 
meetings attended by each member are as follows:

S. 
No Board of Directors Status Independence

Number of 
Meetings 
Attended

1. Sheikh. Abdul Rahman bin Fahad Muhammad 
Jabr Al Thani Chairman •	 Non-Independent

•	 Non-executive 5/5

2. Sheikh. Jassim bin Hamad Nasser Jassim Al 
Thani Member •	 Independent

•	 Executive 5/5

3. Mr. Saad Nasser Rashid Saree Al Kaabi Member •	 Non-Independent
•	 Non-executive 5/5

Key Accomplishments of Investment Committee:

The Investments Committee held Five (5) meetings during the financial year 2023 and the Committee completed a 
number of major works including:

1.	 Investment Strategy: 

The Committee discussed the investment strategy and planned objectives for the years 2024-2027, approved them .

2.	 Portfolio of Investments in Securities: 

The Committee discussed the divestment from the Bahrain National Life Insurance Company; and

The Committee reviewed and discussed the positive performance of investment in Nishan Investment and Real 
Estate Development Company;

S. 
No Name of Member Status Independence

Number of 
Meetings 
Attended

1. Mr. Nasser Khaled Khalifa Abdullah Al-Attiyah Chairman Independent 6/6

2. Mr. Shaheen Jassim Hamad Al-Sulaiti Member Independent 6/6

3. Sheikh. Jassim bin Hamad Nasser Jassim Al 
Thani Member Independent 6/6

Key Accomplishments of Audit Committee:

In 2023, the Committee completed a number of major works including: 

a)	 Approving the draft quarterly and annual financial statements; 
b)	 Discussing the external auditors’ quotations for the fiscal year 2023 and approving appointment of KPMG as 

its external auditors .
c)	 Review and discussion of observations and recommendations of external auditors for financial year 2023;
d)	 Discussion on the proposals for auditing Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Financing of Terrorism systems 

for the year 2023 approving Russel Bedford and recommending their nomination for the board’s approval.
e)	 Approved the risk based Internal audit plan for financial year 2023;
f)	 Approval and adoption of report on compliance with Anti Money Laundering Policy and Counter Terrorist 

Financing Policy for financial year 2023;
g)	 Approving the work plan of the compliance with Anti Money Laundering Policy and Counter Terrorist Financing 

Policy for financial year 2023;
h)	 Review and discussion on compliance to the observations raised by Internal Audit during 2021 and 2023;
i)	 Review and discussion of internal audit observations during financial year 2022 and 2023;
j)	 Discussing and approving the amendments to Anti Money Laundering Policy and Counter Terrorist Financing 

Policy and recommendation to the board their adoption; and
k)	 Review and discussion on financial effects of the transition to fair value model for measurement of investment 

property as well as that of continuing using cost model.
l)	 Discussing on the activity report of the committee during financial year 2023 .
m)	 Discussion of the proposal of expert houses to update the risk register, polices and framework, nominate, M/s 

PWC recommending their nomination for the boards approval.

Based on the annual evaluation of the committee’s work, the Board of Directors is satisfied with its performance, 
implementation of its responsibilities and recommendations made during the year ending on December 31, 2023.

B.	 Policies, Remuneration, Nominations and Governance Committee and its meetings :

The Policies, Remuneration, Nominations and Governance Committee is responsible for the review of AKTI’s 
HR framework and compensation programs. The Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration, allowances and terms of service of the Company’s senior executives to ensure that they are fairly 
rewarded for their individual contributions to the company. The committee details along with details of meetings 
attended by each member are as follows:

S. 
No Board of Directors Status Independence

Number of 
Meetings 
Attended

1. Sheikh. Muhammad bin Fahad 
Muhammad Jabr Al Thani Chairman •	 Non-Independent

•	 Non-executive 3/3

2. Mr. Abdullah Ali Muhammad Al-Ansari Member •	 Non-Independent
•	 Non-executive 2/3

3. Sheikh. Mohammed bin Abdul Rahman 
Jabr Al Thani Member •	 Non-Independent

•	 Non-executive 3/3
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16.  EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT :

The Board supervises the performance of the executive management consisting of the CEO and those directly 
reportable to him, as they bear responsibility for the management of the company’s financial performance.

The details about the qualification and designations of executive management of the company is tabulated below: 

Name Designation Qualification

Mr. Abdullah Ali Al-Asiri Chief Executive Officer Masters in Financial Affairs

Mr. Nasser Abdullah Ibrahim 
Al-Emadi Chief Financial Officer Bachelor of Financial 

Management

Mr. Haitham-Qais Al Mudaries Chief Technical Officer Fellow of the Insurance Institute of 
Canada

Mr. Fawwaz Sobhy Mofleh Alnimer Chairman Office Manager Bachelor of Accounting - JCPA

Mr. Nasr Nasr Rawdan Majali Group Legal Advisor Bachelor of Law

Mr. Lakshmi N. S. Ramachandran Director of the General Insurance 
Department Bachelor of Commerce

Mr. Nabil Farid-Karama Executive Director of Medical and 
Takaful Bachelor of Science

Mr. Punit Kumar Jain  Finance Manager Bachelor of Commerce

Executive management experience and qualifications:

The senior executive management has sufficient academic and professional experience and qualifications in the 
field of insurance, reinsurance, finance, accounting, investment, and information technology, that enables it to 
supervise and manage its daily operations to achieve the strategic objectives in all their dimensions. In addition to 
the existence of internal committees that meet periodically to discuss and develop the technical, operational and 
administrative work frame for which they are responsible according to their authority. 

Responsibilities and authorities of the executive management:

The executive management is responsible for carrying out and implementing the company’s strategic plans 
approved by the Board of Directors, and follows up on the daily work and operational plans, through which the 
Board of Directors is informed of the changes or challenges that the company and the insurance market is going 
through locally and regionally. It is keen to propose and adopt appropriate financial, investment and insurance 
policies and procedures for the company and have them approved by the Board. Based on the powers granted to it 
by the board, it monitors the approves budgets, works to adhere to them, and submits the required periodic reports 
to the board and its executive committees.

Remuneration for Executive Management :

Total remuneration paid to executive management in financial year 2022 amounted QAR. 1,734,000 which is also 
submitted to the respective regulator(s).

The committee approved investment of ten million US dollars in the proposed Sukuk package by the executive 
management through Al Rayan Bank and Lesha Bank, with the proposed ratios, and proceeding with all necessary 
procedures in such cases;

3.	 Real Estate Investment Portfolio: 

The committee reviewed options regarding the company’s lands and properties in Lusail and the communications 
conducted by the executive management with the relevant authorities in Lusail “Energy City previously”.

The committee approved the sale of Pearl Apartment number 409, Tower number 19, for an amount of 1,500,000 
Qatari Riyal. 

The committee reviewed and discussed the feasibility study for the development of one of the company’s lands in 
Lusail to be a future headquarters for the company, and postponing the development based on the feasibility study.

The committee discussed and reviewed opportunities for the utilization of Al Fereej Abdulaziz land, and instructing 
the executive management to prepare an economic feasibility study that clarifies the construction cost, use, and 
area in order to make an appropriate decision.

15.  COMPANY SECRETARY :

The Company Secretary is the focal point for communication with the Board of Directors and senior management 
and plays a key role in the administration of  important corporate governance matters. Currently, the position of 
Company Secretary is occupied by Mr. Fawaz Subhi Muflih Al-Nimr, based on the decision of the Board of Directors 
at its fourth meeting on 29/03/2021.The Company Secretary has the following key responsibilities:

1.  Entry of the Board’s decisions into the register prepared for this purpose by date of its issuance;
2.  Sending the invitation to the members of the Board, along with the agenda, before the date set for the meeting, 

and receiving the members’ requests to add one or more items to the agenda and confirming the date of its 
submission;

3.  Issuing and preparing the minutes of the board’s meetings specifying the names of the present and absent 
members, recording key agenda items and related decisions, and proving the members’ objections to any 
decision issued by the Board;

4.  Recording the meetings held by the Board in the register prepared for this purpose, arranged in chronological 
order according to the date of its convening, showing the following: the present and absent members, the 
decisions taken by the Board at the meeting and the objections, if any;

5.  Maintaining the minutes of the Board’s meetings, its decisions, its reports, and all records and correspondence of 
the Board and its correspondence in paper and electronic records as custodian of these records; 

6.  Full coordination between the Chairman and the members of the Board, between the members among 
themselves, and between the Board and the concerned parties and stakeholders, including shareholders, 
management and employees;

7.  Enabling the president and members to have quick access to all the company’s documents and papers, as well 
as its information and data;

8.  Preserving the declarations of the members of the Board not to combine the positions that they are prohibited 
from combining in accordance with the law and the provisions of this system.

Qualification of Company Secretary:

Mr. Fawaz Subhi Muflih Al-Nimr holds a university degree in accounting, a professional certificate, and is a member 
of the Jordanian Association of Auditors. He has sufficient professional experience in the affairs of listed financial 
companies. 
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AKTI’s operating policies and procedures are considered to be adequate and effective, while recognizing that 
such system is designed to mitigate rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can 
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

3.  INTERNAL AUDIT :

Company has co-sourced internal audit function and appointed an audit firm as internal auditors which directly 
reports to the Audit and Risk Committee of the Board of Directors. The Internal Audit team review business and 
technology processes to identify the risks, review the controls, make recommendations and track management 
action plans until completion to enable better management of the business by identifying those aspects of the 
business that could be controlled more effectively.

The Internal Audit team has the independence to report objectively on any function without being constrained 
by line management through reporting to the Audit and risk committee of the Company. The Internal Audit team 
monitors and supports key governance structures and activities to ensure ongoing effectiveness. The team also 
identifies and promotes good business practices and reviews the Company’s financial and accounting policies and 
processes to evaluate and assess any relevant risks in that context.

The risk-based internal audit plan is formulated by the Internal Auditors and approved by the Audit and Risk 
Committee covering various areas of AKTI’s operations. The internal auditors can access, at all times, to all accounts, 
books, records, systems and individuals in order to fulfil its audit responsibilities. 

The Internal Auditors submits quarterly periodic reports to the Audit and Risk Committee, including, but not limited 
to, the extent of compliance with internal control systems and the management of risks facing the company.

4.  EXTERNAL AUDITORS :

The purpose of appointing an External Auditor is to provide objective assurance to the Board and shareholders that 
the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all related laws, regulations and IFRS and that they 
fairly represent the financial position and performance of the Company in all material aspects.

KPMG currently holds the position of AKTI’s External Auditors and they conduct a full audit at the end of the 
Company’s financial year in additional to a review of the Company’s half-year results. The decision to re-appoint 
KPMG as the External Auditors of AKTI, at a remuneration of QAR 485,000 which includes QAR 325,000 for the 
services related to the scope of the audit and QAR 160,000 for other non-audit services, was approved by the 
shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Assembly which took place on 15-March-2023. The External 
Auditors attend the Annual General Assembly to present their report and to answer queries from shareholders. 

There have been no qualified opinions reported by our external auditors on AKTI’s interim and semi-annual financial 
statements for financial year 2023. 

5.  RISK MANAGEMENT :

AlKhaleej Takaful Insurance Company operates a comprehensive ongoing risk management and assessment 
programme within the business. The primary objectives are to balance the risks the business takes with potential 
reward, support the achievement of corporate strategy and anticipate any future threats. The Company believes a 
vigilant and robust approach to risk management enables informed decision making, provides senior management 
with appropriate visibility of relevant business risks, defines the level of risk the Company is willing to take and 
facilitates risk based assurance activity. The Company’s enterprise risk management function covers risk and capital 
management as well as exposure monitoring. The Company has adopted a three lines of defence risk management 
model which comprises:

INTERNAL 
CONTROLS AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT
1.  INTERNAL CONTROLS MECHANISM :

Internal control refers to AKTI’s policies, procedures and practices that aid in ensuring that the company achieves the 
targets set in the strategy, uses resources economically and bases management decisions on reliable information. 
Internal control also ensures that risk mitigation is adequately addressed. Conformance to regulations and approved 
ethical principles are also ensured through internal control.

AKTI’s Internal controls mechanism aims to ensure that the Board and management are able to fulfill the Company’s 
business objectives. An effective internal control framework contributes to safeguarding the shareholders’ 
investment and the Company’s assets. The objective of AKTI’s internal control framework is to ensure that internal 
controls are established; that policies and procedures are properly documented, maintained and adhered to, and 
are incorporated by the Company within its normal management and governance processes.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s internal control system, and the Board has approved a 
comprehensive set of documents including the organizational structure, grade and salary structure, job descriptions, 
policies and procedures, and the delegation of financial and operational authority to regulate the company’s 
operations. 

This is examined by the AKTI’s Compliance and Internal Audit teams on an ongoing basis. Internal Audit also provides 
independent assurance over the internal control system and reports momentous issues to the Audit Committee in 
accordance with the approved risk based Internal audit plan.

2.  ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING :

In accordance with the requirements set out in the Governance Code for Companies and Legal Entities Listed on the 
Main Market Issued by the QFMA’s Board, pursuant to Decision No. (5) of 2016, management performs an ongoing 
process of identifying, evaluating, and managing the risks faced by AlKhaleej Takaful Insurance Company as well as 
establishes and maintains effective controls for the risks identified, including those over financial reporting.

The Company carries out the review of its internal controls over financial reporting on an annual basis with respect 
to all material financial balances, whereby the management assesses the adequacy of design and operating 
effectiveness of such internal controls over financial reporting. The management assessment of Internal controls 
over financial reporting is performed on the basis of criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework 
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

Management has assessed the adequacy of design and the operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
controls over financial reporting as of 31 December 2023. Based on the assessment, management has concluded 
that the internal controls over financial reporting are adequately designed and operating effectively with no 
material weaknesses identified.
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The Investment risk is represented in the fluctuation of the fair value prices of the financial instrument in the market 
due to several internal or external factors associated with each investment.

The Company manages investment risk by quantifying the risks associated with each investment and only investing 
in accordance with the Company’s investment strategy and risk profile. Any proposed investment that is outside 
established limits must be approved by the Board Investment Committee. The Company seeks to limit investment 
risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio of investments and by continuously monitoring developments in 
international and local equity and bond markets. In addition, the Company actively monitors the key factors that 
affect stock and bond market movements, including the operational and financial performance of its investee 
companies.

D.	 Credit Risk:

Credit risks are represented by the inability of one of the parties to the financial instrument to fulfill their obligations 
in terms of insurance premiums and others, which leads to risk of financial loss to the company The Company’s 
exposure to credit risk principally arises from its insurance and reinsurance receivables, its cash and cash equivalents 
held in bank accounts, its reinsurance contract assets, and its return from Investment portfolio.

The Company has established a range of credit risk limits to manage its exposure within the defined credit risk 
appetite. These limits are monitored periodically. Further, the credit risks are constantly monitored by a specialized 
committee that evaluates and follows up customers and the limits granted to them, and exerts due diligence when 
granting any credit limits to customers.

E.	 Liquidity Risk:

Liquidity risk relates to inability of the company to fulfill its financial obligations when they fall due. This risk is 
monitored continuously on regular basis to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet the company’s needs 
and obligations by linking deposits for restricted terms that enable it to meet the payments due to creditors when 
due to be paid. Periodic reports are prepared regularly which indicate the liquidity needs of the company and the 
retention of sufficient cash resources to finance the same.

F.	 Other Market Risks:

Other market risks are further categorized into following :

i.	 Foreign currency is that the fair value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency 
rates. There are no significant financial assets denominated in foreign currencies; therefore, there is little risk of 
achieving losses in this item.

ii.	 Profit rate risk� arises when company is exposed to the risk of fluctuating “profit” rates on its deposits with 
Islamic banks. In order to reduce these risks, these prices are continuously monitored and the necessary decisions 
are made in timely manner to address the same. 

6.  REGULATORY COMPLIANCE : 

The Company considers compliance with applicable laws, industry regulations, codes and its own ethical standards 
and internal policies to be an integral part of doing business. The Company’s Compliance team facilitates the 
management of compliance through the analysis of statutory and regulatory requirements, and monitoring the 
implementation and execution thereof.

The monitoring of regulatory requirements includes due diligence procedures and the reporting to relevant agencies 
with an aim to combat money laundering and the financing of terrorism. Compliance and Money-laundering 
Reporting Officer also identifies and assesses the compliance and money-laundering risks across the business 
functions, monitor the implementation of risk management strategies and ensure timely reporting of breaches and 
corrective action taken for all suspicious transactions. In addition, the Compliance function undertakes screening 
checks against applicable sanctions watch lists. 

The Company has also put in place the systems and processes to ensure that all the regulatory requirements are 
complied with.

•	 First line - Operational management who is responsible for managing risk through deployment and execution 
of controls and management oversight;

•	 Second line - Compliance, risk and actuarial functions, which report on the first line of defence activities from an 
independent perspective and challenge them; and

•	 Third line - Internal and external audit, which provide independent assurance.

AKTI’s risk management framework is in line with the components of the COSO Model, which support monitoring, 
recording, analysis and reporting on risks. AKTI’s business risk register is subject to a periodic review as it is prepared 
by the company’s management team for each business unit. 

The risk management framework is designed to assess, control, and monitor risks from all sources, with the aim of 
increasing short and long-term value to the stakeholders. The risk management framework involves determining, 
evaluating, and managing the risks faced by the company as below:

A.	 Insurance Risk:

The Insurance risks are represented in the Takaful contracts issued by the company and the resulting obligations 
after underwriting Insurance policies, as well as the price fluctuations related to underwritten contracts, which are 
summarized as follows:

i.  Takaful Risks:

These risks are represented in realizing the underwritten risks in the various insurance divisions including fire, 
general accidents, cars, marine, term life and health, and the fluctuation between actual and expected claims. 

The Company manages its insurance risk through the careful formulation and implementation of its underwriting 
strategy and guidelines, together with ensuring that adequate reinsurance arrangements are in place and that 
claims handling is proactively carried out. The concentration of the Group’s insurance risk exposure is mitigated by 
the Group’s underwriting strategy, which attempts to ensure that the risks underwritten are diversified across a large 
portfolio in terms of type, level of insured benefits, amount of risk, industry, and geography. The Company, in the 
normal course of business and to minimize its financial exposure arising from large claims, enters into reinsurance 
contracts. 

These reinsurance arrangements provide for greater diversification of business, allow management to control 
exposure to potential losses arising from large risks, and provide additional capacity for growth. A significant 
portion of the Company’s underwriting is reinsured under treaty and facultative reinsurance contracts. Amounts 
recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision and are in 
accordance with the terms of the reinsurance contracts..

ii.  Re-Takaful Risks:

The company, as is the practice with other insurance companies, enters into re-Takaful agreements to reduce its 
exposure to losses resulting from large claims. It may be exposed to reinsurance risks as a result of the financial 
solvency of reinsurance company and may result into significant financial losses. In order to limit the reinsurance 
risks, the company considers dealing with reinsurers distributed in multiple geographical areas, with solvency and 
a strong credit rating, and their conditions are evaluated annually, and in light of the results of the evaluation, the 
continuity of the relationship is determined.

B.	 Operational risk:

When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory 
implications or can lead to financial loss. The Company does not expect to eliminate all operational risks, but by 
implementing a rigorous control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Company 
seeks to manage its operational risk. 

The Company has policies, systems and procedures manuals designed for all core and support functions to achieve 
effective segregation of duties, access controls, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff training and 
assessment processes. These procedures are backed up by a compliance and internal audit framework.

C.	 Investment Risk:
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DISCLOSURE AND 
TRANSPARENCY
1.  DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS : 

The Company is fully committed to all disclosure requirements including market listing as required under the 
legislations and regulations of various applicable regulatory authorities and has complied with the requirements 
set forth in this regard.

The most important requirements in this regard relate to the publication of information on shares of the Company 
uniformly to all shareholders and investors to enable them to access all information that affects stock prices providing 
equal opportunities to them for their investment decision(s). The Board of Directors, through the Compliance 
department, ensures that all the disclosures that the Company makes are accurate and the financial reports of the 
Company conform to applicable accounting standards and guidelines. Also, information about the chairman and 
members of the board of directors and major shareholders, their ownership in the company’s shares, their practical 
experiences, and about unfair dealings - if any - with any related party, have been disclosed.

During the year, the Company disclosed all decisions taken by the Board of Directors that were of interest to 
shareholders and the investing public and brokers. All such decisions were immediately notified to Qatar Exchange 
and the QFMA, in addition to publication in the local newspaper and on the website of the Company. Pursuant to 
the provisions of the Commercial

Companies Law and the requirements of QFMA, Qatar Exchange and the Law of the Qatar Central Bank and the 
regulation of financial institutions, the Company also published audited financial reports on the website of the 
Company.

During 2023, the Company was not subject to any material regulatory penalties for non-compliances with the 
provisions of the Code.

2.  CONFLICT OF INTEREST, TRANSPARENCY AND 
UPHOLDING THE COMPANY’S INTERESTS :

The Company adopts a policy that ensures the confidentiality and integrity for any reports of illegal actions relating 
to employees and general performance measures, which are clarified in AKTI’s Code of Conduct. The Code includes 
the expected behavior of employees, particularly regarding compliance with laws and regulations. Employees must 
avoid conflicts of interest, particularly in commercial transactions, business administration and activities, using 
the Company’s assets, records and information, and relationships with related parties outside the Company. No 
employee may accept or request gifts or bribes, loans or bonuses, prizes or commissions. The Company is resolved 
to combat all forms of conflicts of interest in addition to other matters.

Furthermore, the Company complies with Articles 108, 109, 110 and 111 of the Commercial Companies Law No. 11 for 
2015 which define Internal controls requirements related to the Chairman and members of the Board of Directors 
in their relationship with the company.

The Board of Directors, senior executive management, company employees, and service providers are aware that 
all information related to AlKhaleej Takaful Insurance Company or its subsidiaries and clients shall be confidential 
information and may not be exploited to achieve personal or family purposes or any other benefits that are not 
based on the law.

7.  FATWA AND SHARIA SUPERVISORY BOARD :

Since our company is working to provide Takaful Islamic insurance services, the company is supervised from a 
Shariah perspective by a Fatwa and Sharia Supervision Board which is appointed by Company’s Board of Directors. 
The Committee consists of renowned and qualified Shariah scholars that are independent of the Company and its 
Board of Directors.

The Fatwa and Sharia Supervision Board is headed by Prof. Dr. Ali Muhyiddin Al Qardagi and include Dr. Sultan 
Ibrahim Al Hashemi and Dr. Nayef Nahar Al Shammari as board members. The Board provides a binding opinion 
and conduct oversight on everything related to the application of the provisions of Islamic Sharia.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board shall clarify the provisions of Islamic Sharia on all inquiries and transactions 
and follows up on the compliance and implementation of these provisions by the executive management of the 
company. The Chairman shall also give the necessary instructions to the executive management to organize the 
company’s business from the Sharia aspects.

The Chairman of the Fatwa and Sharia’s Supervisory Board shall present an annual report addressing to the company’s 
shareholders and members of its general assembly on the company’s business during the ending financial year to 
give an impartial opinion on the extent to which the company’s management adheres to the principles of Islamic 
Sharia in its transactions or not, and then shall present it to the general assembly at its annual meeting.
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STAKEHOLDERS’ 
RIGHTS
1.  SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUALITY RIGHTS :

AlKhaleej Takaful Insurance Company is committed to protecting shareholders’ and stakeholders’ rights in 
accordance with the required by-laws, regulations and as part of its corporate governance framework. To accomplish 
this, AKTI exercises diligence and care in conducting its operations, including effective and efficient use of resources 
to maximize shareholder benefits.

The company’s Articles of Association and its internal regulations guarantee the shareholders to exercise their legal 
rights on an equality basis, such as obtaining profits, disposing off shares, accessing information directly or through 
the company’s website, participating in meetings, voting on decisions, and accessing information in a way that it 
does not conflict with the interests of the company. This record shall be managed in accordance with the applicable 
rules.

2.  REGISTER OF SHAREHOLDERS [OWNERSHIP] :

The Qatar Central Depository Company shall perform the tasks, powers and management of the shareholder 
register by proving trading operations such as buying and selling, transfer of ownership in any way, registration, 
mortgage and others in accordance with the applicable procedures in the Qatari financial market.

The Qatar Central Depository Company shall maintain a record of shareholders for our company and all listed 
companies, and based on this record, no shareholder’s ownership exceeds the limit permitted by the laws and 
the company’s articles of association. On a monthly basis, the company shall obtain a record of its shareholders, 
as well as when the general assembly convenes, to approve it in recording attendance and distributing profits to 
shareholders.

The company’s articles of association shall include the rights granted to shareholders under the relevant laws and 
regulations. The Board of Directors shall ensure respect for all shareholders’ rights in a way that achieves justice 
and equality by providing shareholders with detailed data on the company’s governance, financial statements and 
other important information on the company’s website and the media.

3.  SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHT TO OBTAIN 
INFORMATION :

The company’s Articles of Association and its regulations guarantee the shareholders’ access to information that 
can be disclosed and enable them to exercise their rights without harming the interests of the company or the 
rights of other shareholders. The company shall provide all information of interest to shareholders and enables 
them to fully exercise their rights and the company shall provide a set of information of interest to the shareholders 
on its website, including: 

• Disclosure of the company’s results and data in accordance with applicable laws, and regulations. 

• Invite investors to the periodic conference call.

3.  DISCLOSURE OF SECURITIES TRADING :

The company shall adopt rules and procedures for identifying the insider, whether by virtue of his position or who 
has access to material data by virtue of his duties that would positively or negatively affect the investment decision 
of the dealers on the company’s shares.

The company notifies the members of the Board of Directors, the executive management, and all informed members 
of the rules and procedures, as well as the prohibition period that is determined by the regulatory authorities and 
the controls that are determined by these authorities in order to adhere to them in the event that any of them 
wishes to trade in the company’s shares. The Qatar Central Securities Depository Company shall be informed of the 
data of the insiders, members of the Board of Directors, and the executive management to prohibit their trading or 
disclose their trading.

4.  DISCLOSURE OF TRANSACTIONS WITH 
RELATED PARTIES :

The company performs its activities in the various insurance sectors, and as a result, it deals with a number of 
classified parties related to it in accordance with the laws, governance systems, and accounting standards, and 
these transactions shall be conducted on a commercial basis and it was during the year 2023 as follows:

Description Amount

Contributions 345,863

Claims 903,847
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Shareholders can use the right to vote without any restrictions or procedural obstacles in the meeting of the General 
Assembly in person or by authorizing another shareholder to vote on his behalf, and the company shall enable the 
shareholder to exercise this right and facilitate his procedures. 

The Articles of Association also determined the basis for distributing profits to shareholders and the reserves that 
must be deducted from the profits, and then the profits approved by the General Assembly will be distributed to the 
shareholders registered with the depository on the last trading day specified by the regulatory authorities. 

6.  SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS RELATED TO MAJOR 
DEALS :

The articles of association of the company include that the company must adhere to the mechanisms specified by 
the regulatory authorities when concluding major transactions to protect the rights of shareholders in general, and 
minority shareholders in particular. The financial statements include the disclosure of the capital structure.

The company is eager to treat all shareholders fairly in the General Assembly meeting, and the company’s articles 
of association allows minority shareholders to object to large deals that may harm their interests or upset the 
capital structure, and to prove their objection in the minutes of the meeting, and to invalidate the objected deals in 
accordance with the law and the company’s articles of association.

7.  RIGHTS OF STAKEHOLDERS (NON-
SHAREHOLDERS) :

The company respects the rights of stakeholders in the company including policyholders, suppliers, employees 
and others. The company is obligated to provide the information it has regarding the stakeholders, concedes any 
grievance filed by them, which is investigated and decided within earliest possible timeframe in accordance with 
applicable laws as well as Internal policies and procedures of the company and without prejudicing or harming the 
interests of others, threatening them.

The Board believes in equal rights of employees and ensures that as required in the relevant legislation and in 
accordance with the Company’s corporate governance requirements, all employees are treated equally as per the 
principles of natural justice and equity without any discrimination. 

8.  COMMUNITY RIGHTS :

The company was established more than four decades ago, and since then it has been seeking to contribute to 
increasing insurance awareness and developing the local community economically and socially through a number 
of initiatives which include but not limited to following:

• Enhancing, developing and directing training programs and attracting Qatari cadres wishing to engage in the 
insurance sector.

• Providing job opportunities and jobs for the local community.

• Contribute to the costs and scholarships of a number of Qatari students in their university studies.

• Contribute to donations, and support companies through purchases or services that they obtain from the local 
market.

• Compliance with the rules of sustainability, and the provision of insurance coverage of all kinds.

• Reply to investors and discuss their queries on financial and operational performance received by the Investor 
Relations Department.

• Developing the company’s website and publishing data, disclosures and financial reports through it.

• Advertising in newspapers and other media.

4.  SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS RELATED TO THE 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY :

The Articles of Association of the company includes organizing the rights of shareholders related to the meeting 
of the General Assembly, including:

• The right of the shareholder or shareholders who own at least 10% of the company’s capital to request that the 
General Assembly be convened in accordance with the procedures specified by the laws and regulations in this 
regard.

• The right to request the inclusion of certain issues in the agenda of the General Assembly and to discuss it in the 
meeting if the Board did not include it and the Assembly decided so.

• The right to attend the meetings of the General Assembly and the opportunity to actively participate in it, to 
participate in its deliberations, to discuss the topics on the agenda, and to facilitate everything that would lead 
to knowledge of the date and place of the assembly, the issues listed on the agenda, and the rules governing 
discussions and asking questions.

• The shareholder’s right to authorize on his behalf, by virtue of a special power of attorney, another shareholder 
who is not a member of the Board to attend the meeting of the General Assembly, provided that the number of 
shares held by the representative in this capacity does not exceed 5% of the company’s capital.

• The right of the shareholder to direct questions to the members of the Board and their obligation to answer them 
to the extent that does not expose the interest of the company to harm, and his right to resort to the General 
Assembly if he considers that the answer to his question is not sufficient.

• The right to vote on the decisions of the General Assembly and to facilitate everything that would lead to 
knowledge of the rules and procedures that govern the voting process.

• The right of the shareholder to object to any decision that he deems to be issued in the interest of a certain class 
of shareholders or harm it or bring special benefit to the members of the Board or others without regard to the 
interest of the company and to record it in the minutes of the meeting, and the right to invalidate the decisions 
he objected to in accordance with the provisions of the law in this regard

5.  SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS REGARDING 
VOTING, ELECTING MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS & DISTRIBUTING PROFITS :

The Board of Directors of the company consists of nine members, three of whom are independent in accordance 
with the company’s Articles of Association. The company is obligated to disclose the candidates for membership 
of the Board and to inform the shareholders of the information about all the candidates and their CVs, and the 
shareholder’s right to vote by himself or through his legal representative in the meetings of the company’s general 
assembly in accordance with the legal requirements. Starting with issuing the invitation and notifying them of the 
topics on the agenda and disclosing the results of the meeting upon its completion, which is done by traditional 
means or by means of modern technology or both.
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GENERAL
1.  CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) : 

AKTI’s approach to Corporate Social Responsibility centers on the idea of creating shared value for all stakeholders 
through economic, environmental and social actions. Accordingly, the CSR program has four pillars: Community, 
Workplace, Nutrition & Well-being, and Environment & Sustainability. At AKTI, the heart of the shared value concept 
rests on the ability of a company to create private value and to transform this into public value for the society.

The Company has committed to contributing 2.5% of its annual profit to Social and Sports Fund. In this perspective 
the company has allocated QAR 1,269,898 being 2.5% of AlKhaleej profit for 2022.

2.  ISSUES, VIOLATIONS AND DISPUTES :

The Company is operating in the insurance industry which is subject to lawsuits in its normal course of business. 
AKTI’s Board of Directors and its top management are keen to implement all rules and regulations outlined in 
corporate governance and legal entities listed on the main market order issued by Qatar Financial Markets Authority 
and Commercial Companies Law No. (11) for 2015.

While it is not practicable to forecast or determine the final results of all initiated legal proceedings, the Board does 
not believe that legal proceedings including litigations will have material effect on the overall operations of the 
company.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (IESBA Code), together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements in the State of Qatar, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Emphasis of a Matter – Comparative Information

We draw attention to Note 42(b) to the consolidated financial statements which indicates that 
the comparative information presented as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023 has 
been restated. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Independent 
auditors’ report
To the Shareholders of 
Al Khaleej Takaful Insurance Company Q.P.S.C.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
Al Khaleej Takaful Insurance Q.P.S.C. (the ‘Company’) and 
its subsidiaries (together the ‘Group’), which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2023 and the consolidated statements of  policyholders’ 
revenues and expenses, consolidated statement of 
policyholders’ surplus, consolidated income statement, 
consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2023, and  the results of its operations, changes in 
consolidated policyholders’ surplus, changes in consolidated 
shareholders’ equity and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with the Financial Accounting 
Standards (“FAS”) issued by the Accounting and Auditing 
Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions (“AAOIFI”).
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Other Information

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the Annual Report but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditors’ report thereon.  The annual report is expected to be made 
available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we have obtained prior 
to the date of this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with FAS, and for such internal control as the 
Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board 
of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Valuation of Takaful Contract Liabilities 
See Note 4(G),5 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

We focused on this area because:

 The Group’s takaful contract 
liabilities represent 73% of its total 
liabilities relating to claims reported 
unsettled, claims incurred but not 
reported and other technical reserves 
and unearned contributions and 
mathematical reserves.

 the valuation of these takaful 
liabilities involves significant 
judgement regarding uncertainty 
in the estimation of future benefits 
payments and assessment of 
frequency and severity of claims. 
Estimating the reserves for claims 
incurred but not reported (‘IBNR’) 
and unearned contribution reserves 
(‘UCR) involves undertaking significant 
judgements and assumptions along 
with the use of actuarial projections 
and techniques hence, we considered 
this to be a key audit matter; and

 internal claim development 
methods and actuarial models are 
used to support the calculation of 
insurance technical reserves. The 
complexity of the models may give 
rise to errors as a result of inaccurate/
incomplete data, or the design or 
application of the models may be 
inappropriate. Assumptions used in 
actuarial models, such as historical 
claims, which can be used to project 
the trend of future claims, is set up in 
applying estimates and judgements 
based on the experience analysis and 
future expectations by management.

Our audit procedures with the assistance of our 
specialist, included among others:

 testing the design and operating effectiveness of 
the key controlsW around recording of reserving process 
for reported claims, unreported claims and unearned 
contribution.

 testing samples of outstanding claims and 
related Retakaful recoveries, focusing on those with 
most significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements, to assess whether claims and related 
recoveries are appropriately estimated.

 for major lines of business, we assessed the 
reasonableness of the key assumptions, such as 
loss ratios, risk factors, claims adjustment expenses, 
frequency, and severity of claims, which were used in the 
valuation models and comparing them to the Group’s 
historical data.

 evaluated whether reserving was consistent in 
approach, with sufficient justification for changes 
in assumptions. We used our industry knowledge 
to benchmark the Group’s reserving methodologies 
and estimates of losses. Our audit focused on lines of 
business with most inherent uncertainty.

 we assessed the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the external independent actuarial experts 
engage by the Group.

 we also considered the appropriateness of 
information provided to external independent actuarial 
experts engaged by the Group and considered their 
scope of work and findings to corroborate adequacy of 
management estimates on claims reserving; and

 evaluating the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures 
related to takaful contract liabilities in the consolidated 
financial statements by reference to the requirements 
of the relevant accounting standards.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Qatar Commercial Companies Law No. 11 of 2015, whose certain provisions 
were subsequently amended by Law No. 8 of 2021 (“amended QCCL”) and relevant provisions 
of the Executive Insurance Instructions issued by the Qatar Central Bank, we also report that:

I.	 We have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the 
purposes of our audit.

II.	 The Company has maintained proper accounting records and its consolidated financial 
statements are in agreement therewith.

III.	 We have not been provided with the report of the Board of directors to determine whether 
there is any financial information contained therein agrees with the books and records of 
the Group.

IV.	 We are not aware of any violations of the applicable provisions of the amended QCCL, 
or the terms of the Company’s Articles of Association having occurred during the year 
which might have had a material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial position or 
performance as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023.

15 February 2024

Doha
State of Qatar

Yacoub Hobeika
KPMG 
Qatar Auditors’ Registry Number 289
Licensed by QFMA: External
Auditors’ License No. 120153

for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Notes 31 December 
2023

31 December 
2022

1 January 2022

(Restated) (Restated)
Policyholders’ equity
Retained surplus 28,103,677 31,366,221 34,696,975
Fair value reserve 25 6,491,796 6,595,593 7,974,573
Total policyholders’ equity 34,595,473 37,961,814 42,671,548

Policyholders’ liabilities
Takaful contract liabilities 10 296,086,823 269,954,428 290,676,197
Deferred commission income 10 9,276,143 5,097,782 8,505,792
Accounts payable and other liabilities 18 26,817,344 27,054,846 24,635,220
Takaful balances payable 16 16,933,738 17,305,922 20,566,790
Retakaful balances payable 17 16,184,848 33,911,212 20,512,977
Distributable surplus 19 - 838,490 2,457,342
Total policyholders’ liabilities 365,298,896 354,162,680 367,354,318
Total policyholders’ equity and liabilities 399,894,369 392,124,494 410,025,866

Shareholders’ liabilities
Takaful contract liabilities 10 400,000 400,000 400,000
Ijarah liabilities 26 4,136,276 4,396,972 4,231,477
Accounts payable and other liabilities 18 30,076,386 26,388,238 22,279,656
Takaful balances payable 16 1,060,509 1,060,509 1,060,509
Retakaful balances payable 17 - -   372,668
Provision for income tax 28 2,173 2,276 20,757
Employees’ end of service benefits 20 6,669,094 5,908,817 5,539,281
Total shareholders’ liabilities 42,344,438 38,156,812 33,904,348

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 21 255,279,020 255,279,020 255,279,020
Legal reserve 22 255,279,020 251,598,182 245,574,763
General reserve 23 75,477  75,477 
Fair value reserve 25 2,179,238 (2,180,972) 4,606,734
Real estate reserve 13 28,236,722 30,193,722 26,542,764
Reserve for share of associates 32 28,025,661 19,024,059 13,965,967
Retained earnings 28,298,858 3,548,998 (21,497,358)
Total shareholders’ equity 597,373,996 557,538,486 524,547,367
Total shareholders’ liabilities and equity 639,718,434 595,695,298 558,451,715
Total policyholders’ and shareholders’ 
liabilities and equity

1,039,612,803 987,819,792 968,477,581

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Group’s Board of Directors on 14 February 2024 
and signed on their behalf by:

Sheikh Abdullah Bin Ahmed Abdullah Al Thani
Chairman 

Abdulla Ali Al-Assiri
Chief Executive Officer                                                  

Notes 31 December 
2023

31 December 
2022

1 January 2022

(Restated) (Restated)
Policyholders’ assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 24,763,022 25,561,444 73,675,444
Time deposits 6 40,950,000 47,300,000 -
Investment securities 7 16,059,689 17,205,614 18,609,071
Takaful balances receivable 8 48,211,553 55,959,128 58,970,919
Retakaful balances receivable 9 49,846,117 63,977,424 40,924,231
Retakaful contract assets 10 166,926,517 131,365,734 162,108,525
Deferred commission 10 10,666,396 7,613,551 11,946,382
Other receivables and prepayments 11 13,731,278 14,692,999 15,342,694
Investment properties 13 28,739,797 28,448,600 28,448,600
Total policyholders’ assets 399,894,369 392,124,494 410,025,866

Shareholders’ assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 6 49,085,784 44,491,451 96,302,829
Time deposits 6 128,750,000 133,750,000 90,100,000
Investment securities 7 158,559,655 109,745,939 70,144,104
Takaful balances receivable 8 - 58,240 58,240
Retakaful balances receivable 9 - 136,808 136,808
Retakaful contract assets 10 398,721 398,721 398,721
Other receivables and prepayments 11 6,642,038 6,256,023 11,389,991
Right-of-use assets 12 27,927,902 33,050,957 33,920,719
Investment properties 13 205,859,103 211,478,476 207,101,227
Property and equipment 14 4,870,475 4,156,295 2,975,874
Investment in associate 15 57,624,756 52,172,388 45,923,202
Total shareholders’ assets 639,718,434 595,695,298 558,451,715
Total assets 1,039,612,803 987,819,792 968,477,581

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position continues next page.

Consolidated statement of financial position  
As at 31 December 2023
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Notes 2023 2022
(Restated)

Retained surplus balance at the beginning of the year 31,366,221 34,696,975
Transferred to policyholder surplus (Note 24) 838,490 1,532,956

Deficit for the year (4,101,034) (4,863,710)

Retained surplus balance at end of the year 28,103,677 31,366,221

Consolidated statement of policyholders’ surplus
For the year ended 31 December 2023 In Qatari Riyals

Notes 2023 2022
(Restated)

Takaful revenues (Restated)
Gross contributions 34 332,982,311  318,999,713 
Retakaful share of gross contribution 34 (147,671,579)  (153,832,812)
Net retained contributions 185,310,732  165,166,901 
Net movement in unearned contributions and mathematical 
reserves

34 (877,670) (4,387,020)

Earned contributions 184,433,062 160,779,881
Retakaful commission and other takaful income 34 28,503,336  26,869,705 
Change in deferred commission 34 (1,125,516)  (924,821)
Total takaful revenue 211,810,882 186,724,765

Takaful expenses
Gross claims paid 34 (168,332,065) (130,018,339)
Retakaful share of claims paid 34 52,672,461 50,192,779
Net claims paid (115,659,604) (79,825,560)
Changes in outstanding claims 34 9,713,617 (3,309,264)
Changes in claims incurred but not reported reserves and 
other technical reserves

34 592,441 (2,324,738)

Commission and other takaful expenses 34 (33,401,371) (33,896,462)
Total takaful expenses (138,754,917) (119,356,024)

Net surplus from takaful operations 73,055,965 67,368,741

Wakala fee 39 (72,622,264) (67,272,191)
Mudarabah fee 39 (2,460,754) (2,010,950)
Income from deposits 2,600,721 1,538,829
Dividend income 834,770 831,120
Net realized loss on sale of investments - (1,501)
Rental income 1,122,000 510,000
Impairment loss on investments at fair value through equity (1,042,128) -   
Net provision for impairment on financial assets (1,157,400) (1,726,767)   
Fair value (loss) / gain on investment properties 13 291,197 -
Net investment expense (72,433,858) (68,131,460)

Other expenses
Other income 124,899 178,371
Other expenses (4,848,040)  (4,279,362)
Total other expenses (4,723,141) (4,100,991)
Deficit of revenues over expenses (4,101,034) (4,863,710)

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position continues next page.

Consolidated statement of policyholders’ revenues and expenses 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 In Qatari Riyals
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Notes 2023 2022
(Restated)

Shareholders’ revenues and expenses
Claims paid 45,509  13,520 
Net claims paid 45,509  13,520 
Changes in outstanding claims - -
Total takaful income 45,509  13,520 
Surplus from takaful operations 45,509  13,520 

Investments income
Wakala fee 39 72,622,264  67,272,191 
Mudarabah fee 39 2,460,754  2,010,950 
Net realized gains on sale of investments 648,154 3,267,442
Dividend income 6,112,138 3,586,887
Rental income 12,205,360 13,069,310
Income from deposits and sukuks 7,486,785 2,731,300
Share of profit from associates 15,633,815 7,696,669
Loss on sale of investment property (49,470) (137,655)
Gain / (loss) on disposal of property and equipment 128,220  (987) 
Impairment loss on investments at fair value through equity (5,830,467) (3,229,107)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets 12 (4,253,293) -
Fair value (loss) / gain on investment properties 13 (2,150,003) 2,299,446
Net investment income 105,014,257 98,566,446

Other Income / (expenses)
Other income 6,003,408 892,684
General and administrative expenses 27 (41,462,691) (39,233,571)
Depreciation (2,363,351) (1,899,789)
Amortisation of deferred ijarah 26 (163,524) (165,495)
Net provision for impairment on financial assets (54,059) -
Board of directors’ remuneration 29 (2,444,964) (1,630,000)
Total expenses (40,485,181) (42,036,171)

Net Income before income tax 64,574,585 56,543,795
Income Tax 28 - (103)
Net Income after income tax 64,574,585 56,543,692

Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR per share) 36 0.253 0.221

Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2023 In Qatari Riyals
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Notes 2023 2022
(Restated)

Cash flows from investing activities 
Additions of investment at fair value through equity (23,183,562) (97,391,478)
Proceeds from disposal of investment at fair value through 
equity

12,324,713 49,775,104

Additions of investments at fair value through income state-
ment

(656,177) (3,011,592)

Proceeds from disposal of investments at fair value through 
income statement

708,793 3,108,642

Additions of investment in Sukuk at amortised cost (35,280,352) -
Acquisition of Property and equipment 14 (2,363,749) (2,211,435)
Proceeds from Property and equipment 14 284,200 -
Acquisition of investment properties 13 (22,100) -
Proceeds from investment properties 13 1,485,000 1,435,500
Income from deposits and sukuks 10,087,506 4,270,129
Dividend income received 6,946,908 4,418,007
Dividend received from associates 6,632,213 2,638,577
Rental income 13,327,360 13,579,310
Net movement in term deposits 11,350,000 (90,950,000)
Net cash used in investing activities 1,640,753 (114,339,236)
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to shareholders (24,076,956) (17,595,667)
Surplus distributed to policyholders - (85,896)
Payment of ijarah liabilities 26 (424,220) -
Net cash used in financing activities (24,501,176) (17,681,563)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 3,795,911 (99,925,378)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 70,052,895 169,978,273
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 73,848,806 70,052,895

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2023 In Qatari Riyals

Notes 2023 2022
(Restated)

Cash flows from operating activities (Restated)
Net income before tax for the year 64,574,585 56,543,795
Policyholders' (deficit) /surplus for the year (4,101,034) (4,863,710)

60,473,551 51,680,085

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property and equipment and right-of-use 
assets

12 & 14 2,363,351 1,899,789

Amortization of deferred ijarah cost 26 163,524 165,495
Income from deposits and sukuks (10,087,506) (4,270,129)
Dividend income (6,946,908) (4,418,007)
Net realized gain through sale of investments (648,154) (3,265,941)

Loss / (gain) on disposal of property and equipment (128,220) 987

Loss on sale of investment property 49,470 137,655
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 20 1,043,914 860,009
Impairment loss on investment at fair value through equity 7 6,872,595 3,229,107
Impairment loss right-of-use assets 12 4,253,293 -
Fair value loss / (gain) on investment properties 13 1,858,806 (2,299,446)
Net provision for impairment on financial assets 1,211,459 1,726,767
Rental Income (13,327,360) (13,579,310)
Share of result of associates 15 (15,633,815) (7,696,669)
Operating profit before working capital changes 31,518,000 24,170,392

Changes in:

Takaful balances receivable 6,594,356 1,285,024
Retakaful balances receivable 14,268,115 (23,053,193)
Retakaful contract assets (35,560,783) 30,742,791
Deferred commission (3,052,845) 4,332,831
Other receivables and prepayments 575,706 5,783,663

Takaful contract liabilities 26,132,395 (20,721,769)
Deferred commission income 4,178,361 (3,408,010)

Accounts payable and other liabilities 385,317 3,708,050
Takaful balance payable (372,184) (3,260,868)

Retakaful balances payable (17,726,364) 13,025,567
Cash generated from operating activities 26,940,074 32,604,478
Employees’ end of service benefits – paid 20 (283,637) (490,473)
Income tax – paid (103) (18,584)

Net cash generated from operating activities 26,656,334 32,095,421
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and expenses, policyholders’ surplus or deficit, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows.

c)	 Functional and presentational currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Qatari Riyal (QR), which is the Group’s 
functional and presentational currency. Amounts presented have been rounded off to the 
nearest QR.

d)	 Basis of measurement
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis 
except for certain “investments at fair value through equity”, “investments at fair value through 
income statements” and “investment properties” that are measured at fair value, in accordance 
with the principal accounting policies as set out below. 

e)	 Significant accounting judgment, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with FAS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized prospectively.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements are described in note 5.

f)	 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group re-assessed its accounting policy for the investment properties with respect to 
measurement of the investment properties after the initial recognition. The Group had previously 
measured investment properties using the cost model whereby, after initial recognition of the 
asset classified as investment properties, the assets were carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

During the year, the Group elected to change the method of accounting for all investment 
properties, as the Group believes that the fair value model provides more relevant information 
to the users of the consolidated financial statements as it is more aligned to the practice 
adopted by its competitors. In addition, available valuation techniques provide more reliable 
estimates of the fair value of investment properties. The Group has applied the fair value model 
retrospectively. Refer note 13 for details of investment properties and note 42 for details of the 
impact of the change in accounting policies.

3.	 Standards, Interpretations and amendments to the published accounting and reporting         
standards 

New standard, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 January 2023

During the year, the Group applied the following standards and amendments to standards in 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements. The adoption of the below standards 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

1.	 Legal status and activities

Al Khaleej Takaful Insurance Company Q.P.S.C. (the “Company”) is a Qatari public shareholding 
company registered and incorporated in the State of Qatar under Emiri Decree No. 53 issued 
on 21 December 1978 and listed on Qatar Exchange. The Company’s registered address is 
Grand Hamad Street, Doha 4555 Qatar. The Company and its subsidiaries (together referred 
to as the “Group”) are engaged in the business of Takaful and other investments.

The principal subsidiaries of the Group and direct ownership percentages for the current and 
comparative years are as follows:

2.	 Basis of preparation

a)	 Statement of compliance and preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial 
Accounting Standards (‘FAS’) issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic 
Financial Institutions (‘AAOIFI’), and applicable provisions of Qatar Commercial Companies Law 
No. 11 of 2015 and applicable provisions of Qatar Central Bank’s rules and regulations.

In accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company, which require 
the segregation and separate reporting of transactions and balances relating to policyholders 
and shareholders, all risks and rewards arising from the takaful business are attributable to the 
policyholders and the consolidated financial statements have been prepared accordingly.

Prior to the year 2010, the Group was undertaking conventional insurance business. The Group 
converted its business to takaful business on 1 January 2010. Accordingly, as of that, the Group 
discontinued conventional insurance business and all outstanding insurance policies were 
transferred to the shareholders’ accounts. Any related claims/recoveries resulting from these 
policies are separately shown under shareholders’ consolidated income statement.

In line with the requirements of AAOIFI, for matters that are not covered by FAS, the Group uses 
guidance from the relevant International Financial Reporting Standard (‘IFRS’) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).

b)	 Principal financial statements

As per FAS - 12 General Presentation and Disclosure in the Financial Statement of Islamic 
takaful Companies issued by the AAOIFI, the Group is required to present the consolidated 
statements of financial position comprising shareholders’ and policyholders’ assets and 
liabilities and the consolidated statements of shareholders’ income, policyholders’ revenues 

Name of Subsidiary Ownership Country of 
incorporation Principal Activities

Qatar Takaful Co. W.L. L* 100% Qatar Primarily engaged in activities in accordance 
with Islamic Sharia principles on a non-usury 
basis in all areas of takaful.

Mithaq Investments W.L. L 100% Qatar Primarily engaged in investments.
* The subsidiary of the Group is in the process of liquidation in accordance with the Qatar Central Bank’s circular 
No. 2 of 2023.
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This standard shall be effective for the financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 
with early adoption permitted if adopted alongside FAS 43, provided that FAS 1 “General 
Presentation and Disclosures in the Financial Statements” has already been adopted or 
simultaneously adopted. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of the above standard.

(iii)	 FAS 43 – Accounting for Takaful: Recognition and Measurement

AAOIFI has issued FAS 43 in December 2022 which should be read in conjunction with the 
above FAS 42 “Presentation and Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Takaful Institutions”. 
The objective of this standard is to set out the principles for the recognition and measurement 
of takaful arrangements and ancillary transactions with the objective of faithfully representing 
the information related to these arrangements to the relevant stakeholders. This standard shall 
be effective for the financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 with early adoption 
permitted if adopted alongside FAS 42. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of the 
above standard.

4.	 Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in these consolidated financial statements and have been applied consistently by the Group 
entities except for the changes resulting from the adaption of new accounting standards during 
the current year as mentioned in note 3.

A.	 Basis of Consolidation

(i)	 Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee 
if, and only if, the Group has: 

•	 Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the 
relevant activities of the investee);

•	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee.
•	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support 
this presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of 
an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it 
has power over an investee, including: 

•	 The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee.
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements and.
•	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation 
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements 

and amendments to standards did not result in changes to previously reported net results or 
equity of the Group and has no effect on the consolidated financial statements.
        
(i)	 FAS 39 - Financial Reporting for Zakah 

AAOIFI has issued FAS 39 in 2021. This standard improves upon and supersedes FAS 9 on 
“Zakah” and aims at setting out the accounting treatment of Zakah in the books of the institutions, 
including the presentation and disclosure by an Islamic financial institution. The accounting and 
financial reporting requirements such as recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements 
of this standard shall apply to institutions that are obliged to pay Zakah on behalf of certain 
or all stakeholders. Institutions that are not obliged to pay Zakah shall apply the disclosure 
requirements of this standard for certain or all stakeholders, as relevant. There is no obligation 
to pay Zakah on the Group, therefore adoption of this standard did not have any impact on 
these consolidated financial statements.

(ii)	 FAS 41 - Interim Financial Report

This standard prescribes the principle for the preparation of condensed interim financial 
information and the relevant presentation and disclosure requirements, emphasizing the 
minimum disclosure specific to Islamic financial institution in line with various financial accounting 
standard issued by AAOIFI. This standard is also applicable to the institution which prepare a 
complete set of financial statement at interim reporting dates in line with the respective FASs.

The Group adopted this standard for the basis of preparation of its consolidated condensed 
interim financial information. The adoption of this standard did not have any significant impact 
on the Group’s interim financial information.

New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective

The Group has not yet applied the following new and revised FASs that have been issued but 
are not yet effective:

(i)	 FAS 1 (Revised 2021) - General Presentation and Disclosures in the Financial Statements

AAOIFI has issued revised FAS 1 in 2021. The revised FAS 1 supersedes the earlier FAS 1 
General Presentation and Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Islamic Banks and 
Financial Institutions and introduces the concepts of quasi-equity, off-balance-sheet assets 
under management and other comprehensive income to enhance the information provided to 
the users of the financial statements. This standard shall be effective for the financial periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently 
evaluating the impact of the above standard. 

(ii)	 FAS 42 - Presentation and Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Takaful Institutions

AAOIFI has issued FAS 42 in December 2022 which superseded FAS 12 “General Presentation 
and Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Islamic Insurance Companies”. The new 
standard should be read in conjunction with the above FAS 1 “General Presentation and 
Disclosures in the Financial Statements” and below FAS 43 “Accounting for Takaful: Recognition 
and Measurement”. The objective of this standard is to set out the overall requirements for 
the presentation of financial statements, the minimum requirement for the contents of and 
disclosures in the financial statements and a recommended structure of financial statements 
that facilitates fair presentation in line with Shari’a principles and rules for takaful institutions. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Net commission expenses and advance commission 
Net commission expenses are amortized over the period in which the related contributions 
are earned. Net commission income that relates to periods of risk that extend beyond the 
end of the financial year is included under “Deferred commission income” in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

Wakala fee
The Shareholders’ fund is entitled for an annual fixed management fee for Takaful Contributions 
received during the year. Wakala fee is provided to shareholders at the rate of 26% (2022: 
26%) of gross written contribution (excluding 100% gross written contribution from fronting 
business). 

Mudarabah share
The Mudarabah share represents management fee payable to the shareholders by the 
policyholders for managing their investments. A rate of 70% ((2022: 70%) of the net income 
received on the investments of the policyholders are recognized as Mudarabah share. The 
actual rate for each year is determined by the Sharia Supervisory Board with co-ordination 
with the Group’s Board of Directors.

Dividend income
Dividend revenue from investments is recognized when the Group’s right to receive payment 
has been established. 

Rental Income
Rental income is recognized in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the ijarah term.

Income from deposits
Income from deposits with banks is accounted for on the basis of the Group’s share of profits 
distributed by the banks taking into account the principal outstanding.

C.	 Retakaful share of contributions

Retakaful share of contributions are amounts paid to reinsurers in accordance with the 
Retakaful contracts of the Group.  The Retakaful share of contributions are recognized on the 
date on which the policy incepts.

D.	 Claims

Claims consist of amounts payable to policyholders and third parties and related loss adjustment 
expenses, net of salvage and other recoveries and are charged to consolidated statement of 
policyholders’ revenue and expenses as incurred. Gross outstanding claims comprise the gross 
estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at the end of the reporting period.

Provisions for reported claims not paid as at the end of the reporting period are made on the 
basis of individual case estimates. The case estimates are based on the assessed amounts 
of individual losses and where loss assessments have not been carried out, the estimates are 
established in light of currently available information, past experience of similar claims and 
in some cases in relation to the sums insured. Case estimates are reviewed periodically to 
ensure that the recognized outstanding claim amounts are adequate to cover expected future 
payments including expected claims settlement costs and are updated as and when new 
information becomes available.

from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss is attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interest, even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and 
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as 
an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets (including goodwill), 
liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or 
loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognized at fair value.

(ii)	 Non-controlling interest
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interest as transactions with equity 
holders of the Group. For purchases from non-controlling interest, the difference between any 
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the 
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interest are also 
recorded in equity.

A.	 Basis of Consolidation (continued)

(iii)	 Non-controlling interest (continued)
When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in 
the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognized in 
consolidated income statement. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes 
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint arrangement or 
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognized in equity in respect of that entity 
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This 
may mean that amounts previously recognized in other equity are reclassified to consolidated 
income statement. If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence 
is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in equity is 
reclassified to consolidated income statement where appropriate.

(iii)	 Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances, income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains or 
losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but 
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

B.	 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Group.

Gross contributions
Gross contributions (contributions) represent policies underwritten during the year, net of 
refunds and discounts granted.  Gross contributions for Takaful business are recognized when 
due.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Claims incurred but not reported (IBNR)
Claims provision also includes a liability for claims incurred but not reported as at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date. An independent actuarial expert is appointed every 
subsequent year to assess the adequacy of reserves to meet future outstanding liabilities. The 
liability is generally calculated at the reporting date after considering the independent actuarial 
report, historic trends, empirical data and current assumptions that may include a margin for 
adverse deviations. The liability is not discounted for the time value of money.

Provision for unallocated loss adjustment expense (ULAE)
Provision for unallocated loss adjustment expense represents an estimate of ultimate payments 
for losses and related settlement expenses from claims that have been reported but not paid. 
The loss reserve estimates are expectations of what ultimate settlement and administration of 
claims will cost upon final resolution. These estimates are based on facts and circumstances then 
known to us, review of historical settlement patterns, estimates of trends in claims frequency 
and severity, projections of loss costs, expected interpretations of legal theories of liability and 
other factors. In establishing the provision, we also take into account estimated recoveries from 
retakaful, salvage and subrogation. The provision is reviewed regularly by the Group’s actuary.

Provision for contribution deficiency (CDR)
At the end of each reporting period, provision is made for contribution deficiency arising from 
general takaful contracts where the expected value of claims and expenses attributable to the 
unexpired periods of policies in force at the reporting date exceeds the unearned contribution 
provision and already recorded claim liabilities in relation to such policies. The provision for 
contribution deficiency is made by reference to classes of business at the date of consolidated 
statement of financial position based on actuarial estimates.

Mathematical reserves
Mathematical reserves are calculated as the actuarial value of the accrued future cash flows, 
which takes the actual risk into account. Insurers’ assets are valued on the basis of their real 
market value, (best estimate).

Employees’ end of service benefits
A provision is made for employees end of service benefits which is payable on completion 
of employment. The provision is calculated in accordance with Qatari Labour Law based on 
employees’ salaries and accumulated periods of service.

Under Labor law, the Group is required to make contributions to a government fund scheme for 
Qatari employees calculated as a percentage of the Qatari employees’ salaries. The Group’s 
obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.

The Group has no expectation of settling its employees’ end of service benefits obligation in 
near term. The provision is not discounted as the difference between the provision stated in 
the consolidated statement of financial position and net present value is not expected to be 
significant.

H.	 Surplus in policyholders’ funds

Surplus on policyholders’ fund represents accumulated gains on takaful activities and are 
distributed among the participants by underwriting year on development of business. The 
timing, quantum and basis of distribution is decided by the Sharia Supervisory Board of the 
Group.

The Group does not discount its liability for unpaid claims as substantially all claims are expected 
to be paid within 12 months of the reporting period.

E.	 Commission / Deferred commission

It represents the received and paid commissions resulted from subscription in takaful policies, 
this commission is deferred and amortized over the period in which the related contributions 
are earned.

F.	 Unexpired risk reserve (unearned contribution)

Contribution income under a policy is recognized over the period of takaful from the date of 
inception of the policy to which it relates to its expiry. 
	
The reserve for unexpired risk represents the estimated portion of net contribution income which 
relates to periods of takaful subsequent to the consolidated statement of financial position 
date. The reserve is calculated using the actual number of day’s method. The reinsurers’ share 
on estimated liability of OCR, IBNR and unexpired takaful contribution is separately classified 
as Retakaful assets in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Unearned Contribution Reserve (UCR) for pre-claims liabilities under takaful policies is 
determined by apportioning the contribution over the duration of each policy, i.e., each policy 
contribution is divided by ‘the total number of days for which cover is provided under a policy’ 
and multiplied by ‘the un-expired number of days. For Engineering, a non-linear formula is 
used to determine the Unearned Contribution Reserve. For Engineering products such as 
Contractors’ and Erection (All Risks), risk increases linearly with the duration of the project such 
that the risk faced is 100% at the expiry of the contract. The rate at which the contribution 
is earned is deemed to increase at the same rate at which the risk faced increases over the 
Lifetime of the policy. This results in the majority of the contribution being earned towards the 
expiry of the policy. For Marine Cargo policies, the Group is using 25% of written contribution as 
it’s unearned contribution reserve.

G.	 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to 
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received, and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Provision for outstanding claims
Provision for outstanding claims is recognized at the date the claims are known and covers the 
liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses based on loss reports from independent loss 
adjusters and management best estimate. The method for making such estimates and for 
establishing the resulting liability is continually reviewed.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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K.	 Investment securities
Investment securities comprise investments in debt-type and equity-type financial instruments.

Classification
Under FAS 33 “Investment in Sukuks, shares and similar instruments”, each investment is to be 
categorized as investment in:

a)	 equity-type instruments.
b)	 debt-type instruments, including (monetary and non-monetary); and
c)	 other investment instruments

Unless irrevocable initial recognition choices provided in para 10 of the standard are exercised, 
an institution shall classify investments as subsequently measured at either of (i) amortized 
cost, (ii) fair value through equity or (iii) fair value through income statement, on the basis of 
both:

a)	 the Group’s business model for managing the investments; and
b)	 the expected cash flow characteristics of the investment in line with the nature of the 

underlying Islamic finance contracts.

(i)	 Amortized cost
An investment shall be measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

a)	 the investment is held within a business model whose objective is to hold such investment 
in order to collect expected cashflows till maturity of the instrument; and

b)	 the investment represents either a debt-type instrument or other investment instrument 
having reasonable determinable effective yield.

(ii)	 Fair value through equity
An investment shall be measured at fair value through equity if both of the following conditions 
are met:

a)	 the investment is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting expected cash flows and selling the investment; and

b)	 the investment represents a non-monetary debt-type instrument or other investment 
instrument having reasonable determinable effective yield.

(iii)	 Fair value through income statement
An investment shall be measured at fair value through income statement unless it is measured at 
amortized cost or at fair value through equity or if irrevocable classification at initial recognition 
is applied.

Irrevocable classification at initial recognition
The Group may make an irrevocable election to designate a particular investment, at initial 
recognition, being:

a)	 an equity-type instrument that would otherwise be measured at fair value through 
income statement, to present subsequent changes in fair value through equity; and

b)	 a non-monetary debt-type instrument or other investment instrument, as measured 
at fair value through income statement if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a 
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring 
assets or correlated liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them on different 
bases.

I.	 Takaful balances receivable

Takaful balances receivable are stated at original invoice amount, less any impairment for 
doubtful debts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no 
longer probable. Bad debts are written off as incurred. If there is an objective evidence that the 
contribution receivable is impaired, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition, the Group reduces the carrying amount of the takaful receivable accordingly 
and recognizes that impairment loss in the Consolidated statement of policyholders’ revenue 
and expenses.

Provision for impairment in takaful balances receivable is estimated on a systematic basis after 
analyzing the receivables as per their ageing.

For certain categories of assets, such as takaful balances receivable, assets that are assessed 
not to be impaired individually are in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. 
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past 
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the 
portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local 
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

The carrying amount of the financial assets is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all 
financial assets with the exception of contribution receivables, where the carrying amount is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a contribution receivable is considered 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying 
amount of the allowance account are recognized in the consolidated income statement/
consolidated statement of policyholders’ revenue and expenses.

J.	 Retakaful Assets

The Group cedes takaful risk in the normal course of business for all of its businesses. Retakaful 
contract assets represent balances due from Retakaful companies. Recoverable amounts are 
estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision and are in accordance 
with the Retakaful contract.

Retakaful assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date or more frequently when 
an indication of impairment arises during the reporting year. Impairment occurs when there 
is objective evidence as a result of an event that occurred after initial recognition of the re-
takaful asset that the Group may not receive all outstanding amounts due under the terms of 
the contract and the event has a reliably measurable impact on the amounts that the Group 
will receive from the Retakaful. The impairment loss is recorded in the consolidated statement 
of policyholders’ revenues and expenses.

Ceded Retakaful arrangements do not relieve the Group from its obligations to policyholders.

Contributions and claims on assumed Retakaful are recognized as income and expenses in the 
same manner as they would be if the Retakaful were considered direct business, taking into 
account the product classification of the reinsured business.

Retakaful contract liabilities represent balances due to Retakaful companies. Amounts payable 
are estimated in a manner consistent with the associated Retakaful contract.

Contributions and claims are presented on a gross basis for both ceded and assumed Retakaful.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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between well informed and willing parties (seller and buyer) in an arm’s length transaction. 
The Group measures the fair value of quoted investments using the market bid price for that 
instrument at the close of business on the statement of financial position date. For investment 
where there isW no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined 
by reference to the current market value of another instrument, which is substantially the same 
or is based on the assessment of future cash flows. The cash equivalent values are determined 
by the Group by discounting future cash flows at current profit rates for contracts with similar 
term and risk characteristics.

L.	 Financial assets

All financial assets are recognized at the time when Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument and de recognized when the Group loses control on contractual 
rights that comprise the financial assets. Any gain or losses on de recognition of financial assets 
are taken to consolidated income statement directly.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: investments at fair value 
through income statement, investments at fair value through equity and other financial assets 
(cash at banks). The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and 
is determined at the time of initial recognition to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

I.	 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, bank balances and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at 
amortized cost in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purpose of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts.

II.	 Impairment of financial assets 
The Group recognizes loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on the other financial 
instruments that are not measured at FVTIS.

The Group measures loss allowances for other financial instruments on which credit risk has not 
increased significantly since their initial recognition, for which they are measured as 12-month 
ECL.

The Group classifies assets and exposures into three categories based on the nature of risks 
involved (i.e. credit risk and other risks) and prescribes three approaches for assessing losses for 
each of these categories of assets: 1) Credit Losses approach, 2) Net Realizable Value approach 
(“NRV”) and 3) Impairment approach.

For the purpose of this standard, the assets and exposures shall be categorized, as under: 
a) Assets and exposures subject to credit risk (subject to credit losses approach): 

		  (i) Receivables; and 
	 	 (ii) Off-balance sheet exposures. 

b) Inventories (subject to net realizable value approach); 
c) other financing and investment assets and exposures subject to risks other than credit risk 
(subject to impairment approach), excluding inventories.

Recognition and derecognition
Investment securities are recognized at the trade date i.e. the date that the Group contracts to 
purchase or sell the asset, at which date the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. Investment securities are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the financial assets have expired or where the Group has transferred substantially all risk 
and rewards of ownership.

K.	 Investment securities(continued)

Measurement
a)	 Initial recognition
Investment securities are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs, except for 
transaction costs incurred to acquire investments at fair value through income statement which 
are charged to consolidated statement of policyholders’ revenue and expenses and income.

b)	 Subsequent measurement
Investments at fair value through income statement are remeasured at fair value at the end 
of each reporting period and the resultant remeasurement gains or losses is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of policyholders’ revenue and expenses and consolidated statement 
of income in the period in which they arise.

Investments classified at amortized cost are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
profit method less any impairment allowance. All gains or losses arising from the amortization 
process and those arising on de-recognition or impairment of the investments, are recognized 
in the consolidated statement of policyholders’ revenue and expenses and consolidated 
statement of income.

Investments at fair value through equity are remeasured at their fair values at the end of 
each reporting period and the resultant gain or loss, arising from a change in the fair value of 
investments are recognized in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and presented 
in a separate fair value reserve within equity. When the investments classified as fair value 
through equity are sold, impaired, collected or otherwise disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognized in the consolidated statement of changes in equity is transferred to the 
consolidated statement of policyholders’ revenue and expenses and consolidated statement 
of income.

Investments which do not have a quoted market price or other appropriate methods from which 
to derive a reliable measure of fair value when on a continuous basis cannot be determined, 
are stated at cost. If on a subsequent date, a reliable measure of fair value is determinable, the 
investment shall be measured at fair value.
Measurement principles

Amortized cost measurement
The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or 
liability is measured at initial recognition, minus capital repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortization using the effective profit method of any difference between the initial amount 
recognized and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment. The calculation of 
the effective profit rate includes all fees and points paid or received that are an integral part of 
the effective profit rate.

Fair value measurement
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or an obligation settled 
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onerous commitments and contracts and adjustment for net realizable value at each reporting 
date.

Changes in estimate (including reversals) shall be recognized in the consolidated income 
statement for the period of their re-assessment.

For investments at fair value through equity, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value 
of the security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

When an investment at fair value through equity is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains 
or losses previously recognized in equity are reclassified to the consolidated income statement 
/ statement of policyholders’ revenue and expenses for the year.

Impairment losses previously recognized through the consolidated income statement are 
subsequently reversed through the income statement if an increase in the fair value of the 
investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the 
impairment loss. 

IV.	 Derecognition of financial assets
The derecognition of a financial asset takes place when the Group no longer controls the 
contractual rights that comprise the financial asset, which is normally the case when the asset 
is sold, or all the cash flows attributable to the asset are passed through to an independent 
party.

V.	  Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset only when there is legally enforceable right to set off 
the recognized amounts and the Group intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

M.	 Investment properties

Land and buildings are considered as investment properties only when they are being held to 
earn rentals or for long term capital appreciation or both.

Investment properties are measure initially at cost, includes all directly attributable costs 
including the borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the construction of the assets 
and excludes the cost of day-to-day servicing of an investment property. Subsequent to the 
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market condition 
at the reporting date.

Any unrealized gains arising from the change in the fair value of investment properties carried 
at fair value is recognized in equity against the “real estate reserve”. Any unrealized losses 
resulting from remeasurement at fair value of investment properties carried at fair value is 
adjusted in real estate reserve to the extent of the available credit balance of this reserve. 
In case such losses exceed the available balance, the unrealized losses are recognized in the 
consolidated income statement. In case there are unrealized losses that have been recognized 
in the consolidated income statement in a previous financial year, the unrealized gains related 
to the current financial year is recognized to the extent of crediting back such previous losses 
in the consolidated income statement. Any excess of such gains over such prior-year losses is 
added to the real estate reserve. 

Fair values are determined based on an annual valuation performed by accredited external 

Credit losses approach
This approach uses a dual measurement approach for receivables and off-balance sheet 
exposures, under which the loss allowance is measured as either a 12-month expected credit 
loss or a lifetime expected credit loss.

Expected credit losses (‘ECL’) 
This credit losses approach with a forward-looking ‘expected credit loss’ model applies to 
financial assets which are subject to credit risk. A number of significant judgements are also 
required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

•	 Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk (SICR);
•	 Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;
•	 Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each 

type of product/market and the associated ECL; and 
•	 Establishing group of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.

Measurement of ECL
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

-	 Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present 
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive);

-	 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between 
the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized 
cost are credit impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have 
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

-	 Significant financial difficulty of the financed counterparty or issuer.
-	 A breach of contract such as a default or past due event.
-	 The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Impairment approach
Assets (or group of assets with common characteristics) subject to impairment approach 
shall include other financing and investment assets and exposures subject to risks other than 
credit risk (other than inventories), other than investments carried at fair value through income 
statement.

Impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of assets exceeds its recoverable 
amount. In case of investments carried at fair value through equity, a significant or prolong 
decline of fair value of an investment below its cost is also objective evidence of impairment. If 
any such evidence exists for equity-type investments classified as fair value through equity, the 
cumulative loss previously recognized in the statement of changes in equity is removed from 
equity and recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

III.	 Change in estimate and reversal
The Group shall re-assess the estimates of impairment, credit losses (including changes in 
respective stages of credit risk), provisions for off-balance sheet exposures, provisions against 
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a gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income by that associate would 
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group 
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when 
the associate is disposed of. When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate 
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the 
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognized in other comprehensive 
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified 
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting 
from the transactions with the associate are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

O.	 Property and equipment

Recognition and measurement
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, 
any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their 
intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on 
which they are located.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by 
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment 
and are recognized net within other income in consolidated income statement.

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognized in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part 
will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are 
recognized in consolidated income statement as incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of fixed 
asset other than freehold land which is determined to have an indefinite life as follows:

Buildings						      20 years
Computer and equipment				    5 years
Furniture and fixtures				    5 years
Vehicles						      5 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at each 
financial year end and adjusted if appropriate, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
accounted for on prospective basis.

O.	 Property and equipment (continued)

Gain or (Losses) on Disposal
The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an item of fixed assets is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in the 

independent valuers applying a valuation model recommended by the International Valuation 
Standards Committee.

An item of investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the 
asset is included in the consolidated income statement in the year the asset is derecognized 
after adjusting the available balance on the real estate reserve account attributable to the 
asset disposed.

N.	 Investment in Associates (equity-accounted investees)

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is 
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but not 
control or joint control over those policies.

The results of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method 
of accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is recognized initially in 
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize 
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When 
the Group’s share of losses in an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which 
includes any long‑term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in 
the associate), the Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses 
are recognized only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on 
which the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, 
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognized as goodwill, which is included within 
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value 
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is 
recognized immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize 
any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, 
the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 
accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of 
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment 
loss recognized is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the carrying 
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized in accordance 
with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increase

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment 
ceases to be an associate. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and the 
retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at 
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with 
FAS 30. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate at the date the equity 
method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from 
disposing of a part interest in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on 
disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for  all amounts previously recognized 
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would be 
required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if 
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the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to 
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation 
basis can be identified.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to 
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated 
income statement unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

R.	 General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses are charged to the consolidated income statement of 
shareholders.

S.	 Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate ruling at 
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting 
period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction and are not 
subsequently restated. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. All foreign 
exchange differences are taken to the profit or loss except when it relates to items where gains 
or losses are recognized directly in equity, where the gain or loss is then recognized net of the 
exchange component in equity.

T.	 Fair values

The Group measures financial and certain non-financial instruments at fair value at each 
consolidated financial position date. Fair value related disclosures for such instruments are 
disclosed in the following notes:

-	 financial assets at fair value through equity in Note 7.
-	 financial assets at fair value through income statement in Note 7.
-	 quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy in Note 38.
-	 disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions in Note 38.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either:

-	 in the principal market for the asset or liability; or 

consolidated income statement.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Reclassification to investment property
When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property 
is remeasured to fair value and reclassified accordingly. Any gain arising on this remeasurement 
is recognized in consolidated profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a previous impairment 
loss on the specific property, with any remaining gain recognized in consolidated income 
statement and presented in the revaluation reserve. Any loss is recognized in profit or loss. 
However, to the extent that an amount is included in the revaluation surplus for that property, 
the loss is recognized in consolidated income statement and reduces the revaluation surplus 
within equity.

P.	 Right-of-use assets

Recognition and measurement
Right-of-use assets are recognized at the ijarah commencement date at cost, which comprises 
the initial amount of the ijarah liability (see accounting policy “Ijarah liabilities”) adjusted for any 
prepaid and accrued ijarah expense made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial 
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset 
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any ijarah incentives 
received.

Subsequent measurement
Items of right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of a right-of-use asset using the straight-line 
method over the earlier of the ijarah term and its useful life. It is depreciated over its useful life, 
if the ijarah agreement either transfers ownership of the right-of-use asset to the Group by the 
end of the ijarah term or reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option at the end of 
the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same 
basis as those of property and equipment. 

In addition, the carrying value of a right of use asset may be periodically adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the related ijarah liability (see accounting policy “Ijarah liabilities”).

Derecognition
An item of a right-of-use asset is derecognized at the earlier of end of the ijarah term, 
cancellation of ijarah contract or transfer of control of the underlying asset. In case control 
of the underlying asset passes to the Group the carrying value of the right-of-use asset is 
reclassified to property and equipment or investment property, as the case may be.

Q.	 Impairment of non-financial assets

At each statement of financial position date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its 
tangible assets (fixed assets and investment property) to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment 
loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
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Financial assets at fair value through equity / profit or loss

Quoted equity instruments 
The fair value of equity instruments that are actively traded in organized financial markets is 
determined by reference to quoted market bid prices for assets at the close of business on the 
consolidated statement of financial position date.

Managed funds 
The fair value of managed funds that are actively traded in organized secondary financial 
market is determined by reference to published net asset values and offer prices at the close of 
business on the consolidated statement of financial position date.

Unquoted equity instruments 
At each reporting period, the management internally estimates the fair values of unquoted 
equity instruments using adjusted net asset value method which is a permitted valuation 
technique by IFRS-13.

Quoted bonds and debt instruments 
The fair value of debt instruments that are actively traded in organized and secondary financial 
markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid prices for assets and offer prices for 
liabilities at the close of business on the consolidated statement of financial position date.

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date 
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

U.	 Income Tax

Income tax
Income tax expenses recognized in the consolidated statement of income statement, comprises 
current and deferred tax attributed to the non-Qatari shareholders of the subsidiaries of the 
Group. 
 
Current tax
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year. It is calculated 
on the basis of the tax laws enacted (Income Tax Law No. 24 of the year 2018) or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date in the State of Qatar. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. If applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation, it establishes 
provision where appropriate on the basis of amounts that are expected to be paid to the 
General Tax Authority. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences arising between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities reported in the Group’s financial statements and their 
respective amounts used for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is 
settled using tax rates based on tax laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by 
the reporting date in the State of Qatar. 

-	 in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 
liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value 
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 
interest.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

-	 Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. 

-	 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

-	 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in 
different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its 
entirety in the same level of fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the 
entire measurement.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a 
recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 
hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Group determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement 
such as unquoted financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and for 
non-recurring measurement.

External valuers are involved in the valuation of significant assets and liabilities, such as takaful 
contract liabilities. Involvement of external valuers is decided upon annually by the management 
after discussion with and approval by the Group’s Audit Committee. Selection criteria include 
market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are 
maintained. The Group decides, after discussions with the Group’s external valuers, which 
valuation techniques and inputs to use for each case. 

At each reporting date, the Group analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities 
which are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. 
For this analysis, the Group verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing 
the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents. The 
Group, in conjunction with the Group’s external valuers, also compares the change in the fair 
value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change 
is reasonable. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level 
of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
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of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the 
asset is not identified.

-	 the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of 
the asset throughout the period of use; and

-	 the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Group has this right when it has 
the decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose 
the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpose the 
asset is used is predetermined, the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset if 
either the Group has the right to operate the asset; or the Group designed the asset in a 
way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.

The above policy is applied to contracts effective as on or entered into after 1 January 2021.
Where it is established that the Group is a lessee, a right-of-use asset (See accounting policy 
“Right-of-use assets”) and an ijarah liability are recognized at the ijarah commencement date.

The Ijarah liability is initially recognized net of (i) gross amount of total Ijarah rentals payable 
for the Ijarah term and (ii) related deferred Ijarah cost, being the difference between the gross 
Ijarah liability and the prime cost of right-of-use asset. Deferred Ijarah cost is amortized over 
the Ijarah term based on effective rate of return method to consolidated income statement 
within other operating and administrative expenses.

Ijarah payments included in the measurement of the ijarah liability comprise the following:

-	 fixed ijarah rentals less any incentives receivable.
-	 variable ijarah rentals including the supplementary rentals duly measured at best 

estimates applying the index rates and other assumptions as of the commencement 
date.

-	 payments of additional rentals, if any, for terminating the ijarah, if the ijarah term reflects 
the lessee exercising an option to terminate the ijarah, subject to Sharia requirements.

Short-term ijarah and ijarah of low-value assets
The Group has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and ijarah liabilities for short-term 
ijarah of properties that have an ijarah term of 12 months or less and ijarah of low-value assets. 
The Group recognizes the ijarah payments associated with these ijarah as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the ijarah term.

Ijarah – Group as a lessee (Finance lease):

Ijarah of property and equipment where the Group had substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership were classified as finance ijarah. Finance ijarah were capitalized at the inception 
of the ijarah at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of 
the minimum ijarah payments.  Each ijarah payment was allocated between the liability 
and ijarah cost so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.  The 
corresponding rental obligations, net of ijarah cost, were shown on the consolidated statement 
of financial position as finance ijarah liabilities.  The cost element of the ijarah cost was charged 
to consolidated profit or loss over the ijarah period so as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of return on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The assets acquired under 
finance ijarah were depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the ijarah term and 
their useful economic life, unless there was reasonable certainty that the Group would obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term, in which case the assets were depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives.

Deferred tax is not recognized for: 
 
– 	 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that 

is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss;

– 	 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
arrangements to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future; and

– 	 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal 
of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is 
insufficient to recognize a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for 
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for 
individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves. 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognized to 
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be used. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date, and reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities. For this purpose, the carrying amount of investment 
property measured at fair value is presumed to be recovered through sale, and the Group has 
not rebutted this presumption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
As at the reporting date, the Group did not have significant temporary differences between the 
carrying amount of assets or liabilities on its statement of financial position and their respective 
amounts used for tax purposes.

V.	 Ijarah

Group as a lessee (Operating lease):
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, an ijarah. 
A contract is, or contains, an ijarah if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether:

-	 the contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or 
implicitly and should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity 
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Z.	 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the Group’s 
Consolidated financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the 
Group’s shareholders.

AA.	 Shari’a supervisory board

The Group’s business activities are subject to the supervision of a Sharia Committee appointed 
by the Shareholders. The Sharia Supervisory Board performs a supervisory role in order to 
determine whether the operations of the Group are conducted in accordance with Sharia rules 
and principles.

BB.	 General reserve

As per the articles of association of the Group, the directors may create a general reserve in 
shareholders equity to meet the contribution deficiency that may arise.

CC.	 Legal reserve

Legal reserve is computed in accordance with the provisions of the Qatar Central Bank (QCB) 
regulations, Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law and the company’s Articles of Association at 
10% of the net profit for the year. This reserve is to be maintained until it equates 100% of the 
paid-up capital and is not available for distribution except in circumstances specified in the 
Qatar Central Bank (QCB) regulations and Qatar Commercial Companies Law.

DD.	 Share of profit from associates

As per the Qatar Central Bank’s instructions dated 4 March 2019, the gross share of profits 
from associates should be transferred from retained earnings to the reserve for share of profits 
of associates. Declared and received dividends from associates are the distributable portion 
of this reserve.

5.	 Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 4, management 
is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and 
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

- Impairment of financial assets
The impairment provisions for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default 
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting 

V.	 Ijarah (continued)

Ijarah – Group as a lessee (Finance lease):
Ijarah in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the 
lessor were classified as operating ijarah.  Payments made under operating ijarah (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) were charged to consolidated profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the period of the ijarah.

W.	 Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit of loss attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the period.  Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the earnings and number of 
shares for the effect of any dilutive instruments.

X.	 Segment reporting
 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from 
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to 
transactions with any of the Group’s other components. Segment results that are reported to 
senior management includes items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can 
be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets and 
head office expenses. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the 
management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on its business 
activities and has four reportable segments: takaful, investment, real estate and unallocated. 
takaful segment represents the results of takaful and Retakaful business. 

Further, takaful segment is organized into four major takaful lines that it manages and operates 
independently. The major takaful lines are:

-	 Marine and Aviation: issuing contracts to cover every step of the distribution chains, 
including goods in transit, storage, and project cargo for specialist shipments and to 
protect organizations from the many varied risks to any vessels.

-	 General Accident: issuing contracts that provide comprehensive cover to the insured’s 
properties.

-	 Life and medical: providing cover to protect insured financially from unforeseen accidents 
that cause bodily injury or harm. The cover compensates for accidental death/injury, 
permanent/temporary disability, medical expenses, and emergency transportation costs.

-	 Motor: issuing contracts that provide comprehensive cover to the insured’s motor vehicles 
and third party.

Y.	 Social and sports contribution fund
 
Pursuant to the Qatar Law No. 13 of 2008 and the related clarifications issued in 2012, which 
is applicable to all Qatari listed shareholding companies with publicly traded shares, the Group 
has made an appropriation of 2.5% of its net profit to a state social fund.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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-  Liability adequacy test	
At each reporting date, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the adequacy of the 
takaful liabilities. In performing these tests, current best estimates of future cash flows and 
claims handling and administration expenses are used. Any deficiency is presented separately, 
under the policyholders’ liabilities and equity in the consolidated statement of financial position.

-  Going concern
Management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable 
future. The Company has been profitable and it has positive net asset and working capital 
positions. Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may 
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the 
financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.
 

-  Impairment of investments at fair value through equity
The Company follows the guidance of FAS 33 “Investment in Sukuk, Shares and Similar 
Instruments” to determine when investment at fair value through equity is impaired. This 
determination requires significant judgment. In making this judgement, the Company assesses, 
among other factors, whether objective evidence of impairment exists. The Company 
determines that investment securities are impaired when there has been a ‘significant’ or 
‘prolonged’ decline in the fair value below its cost. The determination of what is ‘significant’ i.e. 
decline in market value by 30%, or ‘prolonged’ i.e. continues decline for nine months, requires 
judgment and is assessed based on qualitative and quantitative factors, for each investment 
securities separately. In making a judgment on impairment, the Company evaluates among 
other factors, evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the entity, impact of delay 
in execution, industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and 
financing cash flows.
 
6.	 Cash and cash equivalents
	
For the purposes of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand 
and in banks and term deposits with original maturities of less than three months. Cash and 
cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the consolidated statement of 
cash flows can be reconciled to the related items in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as follows:

the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market 
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. For details 
of the key assumptions and inputs used, refer to the individual notes addressing financial assets.

- Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group’s management reviews and tests the carrying value of assets (except for investment 
property that is measured at fair value) when events or changes in circumstances suggest 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When such indicators exist, management 
determines the recoverable amount by performing value in use and fair value calculations. These 
calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. When it is not possible to determine 
the recoverable amount for an individual asset, management assesses the recoverable amount 
for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs to.

- Investment property valuation 
The fair value of investment property is determined by independent real estate valuation 
experts with recent experience in the location and category of property being valued. The fair 
values are based on market value, being the estimated amount for which a property could be 
exchanged on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length 
transaction after proper marketing wherein parties had each acted knowledgeably. Refer note 
13 for details of assumptions and estimation uncertainties at 31 December 2023.

- Impairment of contributions receivable
The Group’s management reviews periodically items classified as receivables to assess whether 
a provision for impairment should be recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
Management estimates the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level 
of provisions required. Such estimates are necessarily based on assumptions about several 
factors involving varying degrees of judgement and uncertainty.

- Claims made under takaful contracts
The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from claims made under takaful contracts is 
the Group’s most critical accounting estimate. There are several sources of uncertainty that 
need to be considered in the estimate of the liability that the Group will ultimately pay for such 
claims. The ultimate cost of setting claims is estimated using a range of loss reserving methods. 
These techniques assume that the Group’s own claims experience is indicative of future claims 
development patterns and therefore ultimate claims cost.

The assumptions used, including loss ratios and future claims inflation are implicitly derived from 
the historical claims development data on which the projections are based, although judgment 
is applied to assess the extent to which past trends might not apply in the future trends are 
expected to emerge. Also, the estimation for claims IBNR using statistical models include an 
estimation made to meet certain contingencies such as unexpected and unfavourable court 
judgments which may require a higher payout than originally estimated and settlement of 
claims, which may take longer than expected, resulting in actual payouts being higher than 
estimated.

Claims and loss adjustment expenses are charged to income as incurred based on the estimated 
liability for compensation owed to contract holders or third parties damaged by the contract 
holders. Liabilities for unpaid claims are estimated using the input of assessments for individual 
cases reported to the Group and management estimations for the claims incurred but not 
reported. The method for making such estimates and for establishing the resulting liability is 
continually reviewed. Any difference between the actual and the provisions made are included 
in the consolidated statement of policyholders’ revenue and expenses in the year of settlement.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders

Investments at amortized cost (i)
Quoted debt investments
State of Qatar Sukuk - 3,409,254 - -
Foreign Sukuk - 23,341,117 - -
Total (a) - 26,750,371 - -

Unquoted debt investments
State of Qatar Sukuk - 5,173,337 - -
Foreign Sukuk - 3,356,644 - -
Total (b) - 8,529,981 - -

Total investments at amortized cost 
(a+b) (1)

- 35,280,352 - -

Investments at fair value through equity
Quoted equity investments (ii)
Local equity shares* 15,559,183 59,974,168  16,669,460  51,634,870 
Foreign equity shares 500,506 1,001,013  536,154 1,072,310
Other equity investment - 36,256,982 - 30,991,619
Total (a) 16,059,689 97,232,163  17,205,614 83,698,799

Unquoted equity investments (iii)
Local equity shares - 18,747,140 -  18,747,140 
Foreign equity shares - - - -
Total (b) - 18,747,140 -  18,747,140 

Total investments at fair value through 
equity (a+b) (2)

16,059,689 115,979,303 17,205,614 102,445,939

Investments at fair value through income 
statement
Investments (iv) (3) - 7,300,000 - 7,300,000

Total investment securities (1+2+3) 16,059,689 158,559,655 17,205,614 109,745,939

(i)	 The fair value of investments carried at amortized cost as at 31 December 2023 amounted 
to QR 35,645,808 (2022: Nil).

(ii)	 The quoted investments constitute mainly securities listed in Qatar Stock Exchange.
(iii)	 The unquoted investments represent investments in companies in which the Group is a 

founding shareholder.
(iv)	 Investments at fair value through income statement represents investment funds 

managed by Q-Invest SQN income fund has stated interest rate of 7% per annum (2022 

7.	 Investments securities2023 2022
(Restated)

Policyholders (Restated)
Cash in hand 619,460 -
Investment deposits (Islamic Banks)* (1) 40,950,000 47,300,000
Call accounts (Islamic banks) (2) 22,920,583 23,509,617
Current accounts (3) 1,222,979  2,051,827 
Total 65,713,022  72,861,444 

Shareholders
Cash in hand 1,000 1,000
Investment deposits (Islamic Banks)* (1) 128,750,000 133,750,000
Call accounts (Islamic banks) (2) 3,355,577  9,094,347 
Current accounts (3) 45,729,207  35,396,104 
Total 177,835,784  178,241,451 

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of finan-
cial position

243,548,806 251,102,895

Less: deposits with original maturity more than three months (169,700,000) (181,050,000)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash 
flows

73,848,806 70,052,895

(1)	 Investment deposits earn profit at rates ranging from 2.60% to 6.15% (31 December 
2022: 1.65% to 5.75%). 

(2)	 Call accounts earn profit at rates ranging from 0.25% to 0.75% (31 December 2022: 
0.25% to 0.75%).

(3)	 Included in current accounts non-Islamic bank accounts used for the policyholders’ 
contributions paid by credit cards.

* Investment deposits includes deposit kept in Islamic Banks which is due to be matured in 
December 2024.	

Balances with banks are assessed to have low credit risk of default since these banks are highly 
regulated by the Qatar Central Bank. Accordingly, the management of the Group estimates the 
loss allowance on balances with banks at the end of the reporting period at an amount equal 
to 12-month ECL. None of the balances with banks at the end of the reporting period are past 
due, and taking into account the historical default experience and the current credit ratings of 
the bank, the management of the Group have assessed that there is no impairment, and hence 
have not recorded any loss allowances on these balances. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Takaful receivables comprise a large number of customers mainly within the State of Qatar. 
Four companies account for 27% of the accounts receivable as of 31 December 2023 (2022: 
29%).

Takaful receivable includes QAR 153,670 which is due from related parties. (Note 33(b))

Unimpaired takaful receivables are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully 
recoverable. It is not the practice of the Group to obtain collateral over financial assets and all 
are, therefore, unsecured. Takaful receivables comprise a large number of customers mainly 
within Qatar and are stated net of any impairment provision and are short term in nature. 

The movement on the allowance for impairment of receivables as follows:

The Group’s terms of business require amounts to be paid within the underwriting year and 
as such these receivables are measured at cost. Arrangements with the retakaful companies 
normally require settlement on a quarterly basis.

2023 2022
Aging:

0-60 days 20,389,810 22,999,973
61-120 days 15,014,185 17,995,943
121-180 days 4,345,877 5,695,815
181-365 days 6,693,189 7,175,856
Above 365 days 4,846,152 4,749,172
Total 51,289,213 58,616,759

2023 2022
Balance at 1 January 2,599,391 2,356,228
Written off during the year - (299,579)
Charge for the year 478,269 542,742
Balance at 31 December 3,077,660 2,599,391

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders

Corporate 49,433,762 55,840 56,724,560  55,840 
Retail 640,385 2,400 832,750  2,400 
Government 1,156,826 -  1,001,209 -

51,230,973 58,240 58,558,519  58,240 
Less: Allowance for impairment (3,019,420) (58,240) (2,599,391) -
At 31 December 48,211,553 - 55,959,128  58,240 

8.	 Takaful balances receivable:7% per annum) and is due to be mature in October 2024.

*Investments in equity includes shareholders quoted investment amounting to QR 1,822,500 
that is frozen and therefore not immediately disposable

The movement in investments at amortized cost is as follows:

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowance on investments at amortized 
cost with at the end of the reporting period at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. None of 
the investments at amortized at the end of the reporting period are past due and taking into 
account the historical default experience and the current credit ratings of the issuers, the 
management of the Group have assessed that there is no impairment, and hence have not 
recorded any loss allowances on these investments.

The movement in investments at fair value through equity is as follows:

The movement in investments at fair value through income statement is as follows:

Note 1:
Investments at amortized cost, investments at fair value through equity and investments at 
fair value through income statement are presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as follows:

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders

Balance at 1 January - - -
Addition during the year - 35,280,352 - -
Impairment - - - -
Balance at 31 December - 35,280,352 - -

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders

Balance at 1 January 17,205,614 102,445,939  18,609,071  62,844,104 
Additions - 23,183,562 -  97,391,478
Disposals - (11,729,175)  (24,477) (46,581,736)
Impairment (1,042,128) (5,830,467) - (3,229,107)
Changes in fair value (103,797) 7,909,444  (1,378,980) (7,978,800)
Balance at 31 December 16,059,689 115,979,303  17,205,614 102,445,939

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders

Balance at 1 January - 7,300,000 - 7,300,000
Addition during the year - 656,177 - 3,011,592
Redemptions during the year - (656,177) - (3,011,592)
Balance at 31 December - 7,300,000 - 7,300,000

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders

Investments securities 16,059,689 158,559,655  17,205,614 109,745,939

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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10.1	 Movement in Retakaful Contract Assets and Takaful Contract Liabilities

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders

Local reinsurers 45,311,262 - 59,186,375 246,211
Foreign reinsurers 6,922,468 9,941 6,815,509 96,985

52,233,730 9,941  66,001,884  343,196 
(2,387,613) (9,941) (2,024,460)  (206,388)

At 31 December 49,846,117 - 63,977,424  136,808 

9.	 Retakaful balances receivable

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders

Gross takaful contract liabilities
Claims reported unsettled 116,905,750 400,000  96,297,747  400,000 
Claims incurred but not reported and 
other technical reserves 

46,008,730 - 47,002,630 -
133,172,343 - 126,654,051 -

Deferred commissions 9,276,143 -  5,097,782 -
Total 305,362,966 400,000 275,052,210  400,000 

Retakaful share of takaful liabilities
Claims reported unsettled 88,683,465 398,721  58,361,845  398,721 
Claims incurred but not reported and 
other technical reserves 

26,820,329 - 27,221,788 -

Unearned contributions and 
mathematical reserves 

51,422,723 -  45,782,101 -

Deferred commissions 10,666,396 -  7,613,551 -
Total 177,592,913 398,721 138,979,285  398,721 

Net takaful liabilities
Claims reported unsettled 28,222,285 1,279  37,935,902  1,279 
Claims incurred but not reported and 
other technical reserves 

19,188,401 - 19,780,842  -   

Unearned contributions and mathe-
matical reserves 

81,749,620 - 80,871,950  -   

Deferred commissions (1,390,253) -  (2,515,769)  -   
Total 127,770,053 1,279 136,072,925  1,279 

10.	 Retakaful contract assets and takaful contract liabilities

The movement on the allowance for impairment of Retakaful receivables as follows:

2023 2022
Balance at 1 January 2,230,848 1,758,037
Written off during the year (94,142) -
Charge for the year 260,848 472,811
Balance at 31 December 2,397,554 2,230,848

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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(1)	 Included in the shareholders other receivables is an amount of QR 76 million at 31 
December 2023 (31 December 2022: QR 76 million) which is a receivable from the former chief 
executive officer of the Group. The Group recorded the provision against the receivable of QR 
76 million in 2020.

The movement on the allowance for impairment of other receivable as follows:

11.	 Other receivables and Prepayments

12.	 Right of use Assets

2023 2022
(Restated)

Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders
Refundable deposits 2,142,692 288,119 3,486,069 298,119
Employee advances 260,362 -          384,066 -
Advances and Prepayments 440,320 1,093,332 227,920            935,724 

297,084 1,435,933           267,194 1,085,125
Cases receivable 11,894,217 1,510,850 11,710,624 1,631,626
Others (1) 1,524,865 81,465,566 1,078,268 81,351,969

16,559,540 85,793,800 17,154,141 85,302,563
Less: Allowance for impairment (2,828,262) (79,151,762) (2,461,142) (79,046,540)
At 31 December 13,731,278 6,642,038 14,692,999 6,256,023

2023 2022
Balance at 1 January 81,507,682 81,987,074
Written off during the year - (1,190,606)
Charge for the year 472,342 711,214
Balance at 31 December 81,980,024 81,507,682

a) Shareholders 2023 2022
Cost:
Balance at 1 January 34,790,481 34,790,481
Impairment on right-of-use assets (4,253,293) -
Balance at 31 December 30,537,188 34,790,481

Accumulated Depreciation:
Balance at 1 January 1,739,524 869,762
Depreciation 869,762 869,762
Balance at 31 December 2,609,286 1,739,524
Carrying amounts
As at 31 December 27,927,902 33,050,957
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10.2	 Claim Development Table

The following table shows the estimated cumulative incurred claims, including claims notified 
for each successive accident year at the end of each reporting period, together with cumulative 
payments to date:
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(i)	 The Group has no restriction on the realizability of its investment properties and has no 
contractual liabilities either to purchase, construct or develop investment.

(ii)	 Used valuation model in accordance with that recommended by the International 
Valuation Standards Committee has been applied. The valuer used the market comparable 
approach for land and the depreciated replacement cost approach for commercial, residential 
and industrial properties

Movement of the real estate reserve as follows:

-	 Income approach
Income approach is a valuation method appraisers and real estate investors use to estimate 
the value of income producing properties. It is based upon the premise of anticipation i.e., the 
expectation of future benefits. The most commonly used technique for assessing market value 
within the income approach is the income capitalization method, a property’s fair value is 
estimated based on the normalized net operating income generated by the property, which is 
divided by the capitalization (discount) rate.

-	 Market comparable method
Under the market comparable approach, a property’s fair value is estimated based on 
comparable transactions. The market comparable approach is based upon the principle of 
substitution under which a potential buyer will not pay more for the property than it will cost to 
buy a comparable substitute property. The unit of comparison applied by the Group is the price 
per square metre (sqm).

The fair value measurement for all of the investment properties has been categorized at level 3 
fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation of investment properties:

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders

Balance at 1 January - 30,193,722 - 26,542,764
Net fair value change during the year

Balance at 31 December - (1,957,000) - 3,650,958
At 31 December - 28,236,722 - 30,193,722

Type of property Valuation technique Significant 
unobservable inputs

Range weighted 
average

Commercial, residential, and 
industrial properties

Income approach Monthly rent income (sqm) QR 30 - QR 150

Capitalization rate 5.6% - 9.0%
Vacancy rate 0% - 20%
Non recoverable 
operating expenses

1% - 6%

Land Market comparable 
method

QR 4,305 - 16,146

13.	 Investment properties

Investment properties comprise investment in lands and buildings acquired to earn rental 
income and for capital appreciation from such properties. The movement in investment 
properties during the year was as follows:

As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of the Group’s investment properties has been arrived 
on the basis of a valuation carried out by external, independent property valuers, having 
appropriate recognized professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and 
category of the property being valued. The fair value was determined based on a combination 
of an income approach and a market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction 
prices for similar properties. The fair value represents the amount at which the assets could 
be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing buyer and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an 
arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation. As at 31 December 2023, the fair value at 
the date of valuation amounted to QR 234.59 million (2022: QR 239.93 million) for investment 
properties for shareholders and policyholders.

Investment properties consists of:

a) Policyholders 2023 2022
(Restated)

Balance at 1 January 28,448,600 28,448,600
Additions during the year - -
Disposal during the year - -
Changes in fair value 291,197 -
Balance at 31 December 28,739,797 28,448,600

b) Shareholders 2023 2022
(Restated)

Balance at 1 January 211,478,476 207,101,227
Additions during the year 22,100 -
Disposal during the year (1,534,470) (1,573,155)
Changes in fair value (4,107,003) 5,950,404
Balance at 31 December 205,859,103 211,478,476

a) Policyholders 31 December 
2023

31 December 
2022

(Restated)
Land 14,346,797 13,723,600
Building 14,393,000 14,725,000
Total investment properties 28,739,797 28,448,600

b) Shareholders 31 December 
2023

31 December 
2022

(Restated)
Land 133,233,563 138,198,216
Building 72,625,540 73,280,260
Total investment properties 205,859,103 211,478,476

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Movements in investment in the associate are as follows:

2023 2022

At 1 January 52,172,388 45,923,202
Share of profit for the year 15,633,815 7,696,669
Dividends received during the year (6,632,213) (2,638,577)
Movement in fair value reserve (3,549,234) 1,191,094
Carrying amount at 31 December 57,624,756 52,172,388

The following table summarizes the financial information of the Associate as included in the 
financial statements of the Group.

2023 2022

Total assets 295,502,495 301,580,606
Total liabilities (112,683,775) (136,081,950)

Net assets (100%) 408,186,270 437,662,556
The Group’s Share of net assets (25%) 102,046,568 109,415,639
Revenue 134,569,890 110,617,175
The Group’s Share of profit (25%) 15,633,815 7,696,669

The share of profit from the associates are given below.

2023 2022

Qatar Unified Bureau Insurance W.L.L 11,217,315 4,898,200
Bahrain National Life Assurance Company B.S.C 4,416,500 2,798,469
At 31 December 15,633,815 7,696,669

16.	 Takaful balances payable

2023 2022
Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders

Corporate 15,523,561 987,162 15,097,450 987,162
Retail 107,236 - 468,551 -   
Government 1,302,941 73,347 1,739,921 73,347
At 31 December 16,933,738 1,060,509 17,305,922 1,060,509

17.	 Retakaful balances payable

2023 2022
Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders

Local reinsurers 756,763 -  188,565 -
Foreign reinsurers 15,428,085 -  33,722,647 -
At 31 December 16,184,848 -  33,911,212 -

Sensitivity analysis
As at 31 December 2023, if the price per square foot for investment properties had been higher/
lower by 1% with all other variables held constant, the change in the fair value of investment 
properties would have been QR 2.34 million (2022: QR 2.39 million) higher/lower.

14.	 Property and equipment

15.	 Investment in Associate

The Group has two investments in associates, Qatar Unified Bureau Insurance W.L.L and 
Bahrain National Life Assurance Company B.S.C. Qatar Unified Bureau Insurance W.L.L 
incorporated in Qatar, in which the Group has 25% of the interest. It is principally engaged in 
takaful insurance business. Qatari Unified Bureau Insurance W.L.L is not publicly listed. Bahrain 
National Life Assurance Company B.S.C. is incorporated in Bahrain, in which the Group has 25% 
of the interest. It is principally engaged in insurance business.

a)	 Policyholders Computer Total
(Restated)

Cost:
Balance as at 1 January 2022 / 31 December 2022 / 31 December 2023 2,777,628 2,777,628
Accumulated Depreciation:
Balance as at 1 January 2022 / 31 December 2022 / 31 December 2023  2,777,628 2,777,628
Carrying amounts
Balance as at 1 January 2022 / 31 December 2022 / 31 December 2023 - -

b)     Shareholders Computer and 
equipment

Furniture and 
fixtures

Motor vehicle Total

Cost:
Balance at 1 January 2022 8,161,366 10,189,785 503,000 18,854,151
Additions during the year 2,026,284  185,151 -  2,211,435 
Disposals during the year -  (119,649) -  (119,649)
Balance at 31 December 2022 10,187,650  10,255,287 503,000  20,945,937 
Additions during the year 855,051 940,698 568,000 2,363,749
Disposals during the year - - (470,000) (470,000)
Balance at 31 December 2023 11,042,701 11,195,985 601,000 22,839,686

Accumulated Depreciation:
Balance at 1 January 2022 6,294,375 9,408,787 175,115 15,878,277
Depreciation for the year 488,520  440,907  100,600  1,030,027 
Disposals during the year -  (118,662)  -  (118,662)
Balance at 31 December 2022 6,782,895  9,731,032  275,715  16,789,642 
Depreciation for the year 873,260 475,325 145,004 1,493,589
Disposals during the year - - (314,020) (314,020)
Balance at 31 December 2023 7,656,155 10,206,357 106,699 17,969,211

Carrying amounts 
Balance at 31 December 2022 3,404,755 524,255 227,285  4,156,295 
Balance at 31 December 2023 3,386,546 989,628 494,301 4,870,475
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2023 2022
WW Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders
Quoted investments
At 1 January 6,595,593 (7,366,041)  7,974,573  612,759 
Net movement during the year
Disposal of investments - 274,677  477 (386,843)
Fair value change during the year (103,797) 7,634,767  (1,379,457) (7,591,957)
At 31 December (1) 6,491,796 543,403  6,595,593 (7,366,041)

Unquoted investments
At 1 January - - - -
Net movement - - - -
At 31 December (2) - - - -

Investment in Associates
At 1 January - 5,185,069  -   3,993,975 
Movement in fair value reserve of 
associate

- (3,549,234)  -   1,191,094 

At 31 December (3) - 1,635,835  -   5,185,069 

At 31 December (1+2+3) 6,491,796 2,179,238  6,595,593 (2,180,972)

the Qatar Central Bank (QCB) regulations and Qatar Commercial Companies Law. During the 
year the Group has transferred remaining balance to the statutory reserve amounting to QR 
3,680,838 to equates 100% of the paid-up capital.

23.	 General Reserve

As per the articles of association of the company, the directors may create a general reserve in 
shareholders equity to meet the contribution deficiency that may arise. During the current and 
comparative years, there was no transfer to the general reserve.

24.	 Policyholder surplus

During the year, the Sharia Supervisory Board has resolved to transfer unclaimed surplus 
outstanding for more than 5 years amounting to QR 838,490 (2022: Nil) from the distributable 
surplus account to the policyholders’ retained surplus.

25.	 Fair Value Reserve

Fair value reserves comprise of cumulative net change in the fair value of equity securities 
designated the fair value through equity. Change in fair value reserve from investments at fair 
value through equity:

18.	 Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities

2023 2022 (Restated)
Policyholders Shareholders Policyholders Shareholders

Accruals and provisions 22,164,954 2,540,041 20,403,110 2,235,063
Contribution received in advance 2,461,655 - 4,336,638 -
Dividends payable - 14,839,536 - 13,388,572
Provision for staff bonus - 3,996,828 - 3,580,128
Provision for staff leave - 2,051,385 -         1,784,625 
Provision for Social and Sports activities 
Contribution

- 1,614,365 - 1,269,898

Board of Directors Remuneration (Note 
29)

- 2,524,967 - 2,230,003

Deferred rental income - 376,095 - 406,095
Others 2,190,735 2,133,169 2,315,098 1,493,854
At 31 December 26,817,344 30,076,386 27,054,846 26,388,238

19.	 Distributable Surplus

2023 2022

At 1 January 838,490 2,457,342
Distributed during the year - (85,896)
Transfer to Policyholders Surplus (838,490) (1,532,956)
At 31 December - 838,490

20.	 Employees’ end of service benefits

2023 2022

At 1 January 5,908,817 5,539,281
Charge for the year 1,043,914 860,009
Paid during the year (283,637) (490,473)
At 31 December 6,669,094 5,908,817

21.	 Share Capital

2023 2022

Authorized, issued and paid-up capital

Share capital of QR 1 each (QR) 255,279,020 255,279,020

No. of shares of QR 1 each (Nos.) 255,279,020 255,279,020

22.	 Legal Reserve

Legal reserve is computed in accordance with the provisions of the Qatar Central Bank (QCB) 
regulations, Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law and the company’s Articles of Association at 
10% of the net profit for the year. This reserve is to be maintained until it equates 100% of 
the paid-up capital and is not available for distribution except in circumstances specified in 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Nature of transactions 2023 2022
Contribution 345,863 1,499,436
Claims 903,847 -

*Takaful receivables from related parties are added to takaful receivables (Note 8).

Nature of Relationship 2023 2022
Board members 153,670 637,851

b)	 Receivable from related parties:

**Claims payable to related parties are added to the takaful payables (Note 15).

Nature of Relationship 2023 2022
Board members 8,555 12,780

c)	 Payable to related parties:

subject to the approval by the forthcoming shareholders general assembly.

30.	 Sharia supervisory board
	
The Group’s business activities are subject to the supervision of a Sharia supervisory board 
appointed by the Shareholders. The Sharia Supervisory Board performs a supervisory role in 
order to determine whether the operations of the Group are conducted in accordance with 
Sharia rules and principles.

31.	 Social and sports contribution fund

Pursuant to the Qatar Law No. 13 of 2008 and the related clarifications issued in 2010, which 
is applicable to all Qatari listed shareholding companies with publicly traded equity, the Group 
has made an appropriation of 2.5% of its net profit to social and sports fund amounting to QR 
1,614,365 (2022: 1,269,898).

32.	 Reserve for share of profits of associates

As per the Qatar Central Bank’s instructions dated 4 March 2019, share of profits of associates 
should be transferred from the retained earnings to reserve for share of profits of associates. 
Declared and received dividends from associates are distributable portion of this reserve. 
During the year, the Group has transferred an amount of QR 9,001,602 to this reserve (2022: 
5,058,092).
			 
33.	 Related parties

a)	 Transactions with related parties
These represent transaction with related parties. Parties are considered to be related if one 
party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other 
party in making financial and operating decisions and directors of the Group and companies of 
which they are key management personnel. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are 
approved by the Group’s management and are negotiated under normal commercial terms. 
Significant transactions during the year are as follows:

26.	 Ijarah liabilities

2023 2022

Balance at 1 January 4,396,972 4,231,477
Addition (1) - -
Payment (424,220) -
Amortization of deferred ijarah 163,524 165,495

4,136,276 4,396,972

27.	 General and administration expenses

2023 2022

Staff costs 27,744,875 24,863,790
Sharia supervisory board fee 200,000 200,000
Investment properties operating expenses 2,600,268 6,504,377
Repair and maintenance 822,556 1,046,339
Professional fees 2,624,395 2,233,802
Governmental expenses 634,755 556,602
Bank charges 683,262 267,969
Marketing and advertising 3,667,559 1,320,734
Electricity and telephone 1,083,077 1,021,518
Refreshment and stationery 611,392 537,072
Miscellaneous 790,552 681,368

41,462,691 39,233,571

The movements of ijarah liabilities were as follows:

(1)	 On 1 January 2021 the Group entered into a ijarah contract with the Ministry of 
Municipality & Environment Doha Municipality obtaining exclusive rights to use of the lands for 
QR 150, QR 12,500 and QR 5,033 per month. The ijarah bears an implicit discount rate of 4% 
per annum and is effectively secured as the rights to the ijarah asset revert to the lessor in the 
event of default. As per the accounting policy of the Group, the group is amortizing the ROA for 
these plots of land on 40 years.

28.	 Income tax expenses

Based on the New Executive Regulations to the Income Tax Law (No.24 of 2018), subsidiaries 
and companies owned by listed entities shall now be taxable to the extent of non-Qatari 
shareholding in the listed company.

Therefore, since the Group has investment in subsidiaries and other companies and are 
therefore taxable during the current year. Tax is charged at a rate of 10% of the taxable income 
to the extent of non-Qatari shareholding.

29.	 Board of Directors’ remuneration

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company and the provisions of Qatar 
commercial companies law No.11 of 2015, the Board of Directors’ remuneration for the year 
2023 has been proposed at QR 2,444,964 (2022: QR 1,630,000) (Note 32). The provision is 
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Total takaful expenses (138,709,408) - - - (138,709,408)
Net surplus from takaful 
operations

73,101,474 - - - 73,101,474

Dividend Income - 6,946,908 - - 6,946,908
Net realized gain on sale of 
investments

- 648,154 - - 648,154

Rental income - - 13,327,360 - 13,327,360
Income from deposits and 
sukuks

- 10,087,506 - - 10,087,506

Share of profit from associates - 15,633,815 - - 15,633,815
Loss on sale of investment 
property

- - (49,470) - (49,470)

Gain on disposal of property 
and equipment

- - - 128,220 128,220

Net provision for impairment - (6,872,595) (4,253,293) (1,211,459) (12,337,347)
Fair value loss on investment 
properties

- - (1,858,805) - (1,858,805)

Net investment income - 26,443,788 7,165,791 (1,083,239) 32,526,340
Other income - - - 6,128,307 6,128,307
Depreciation - - (869,762) (1,493,589) (2,363,351)
General and administrative 
expenses

- - - (41,462,691) (41,462,691)

Amortization of deferred 
ijarah

- - (163,524) - (163,524)

Other expenses - - - (4,848,040) (4,848,040)
Board of directors’ 
remuneration

- - - (2,444,964) (2,444,964)

Total other expenses - - (1,033,286) (44,120,977) (45,154,263)
Profit / (loss) before tax 73,101,474 26,443,788 6,132,505 (45,204,216) 60,473,551
Income tax - - - - -
Profit / (loss) after tax 73,101,474 26,443,788 6,132,505 (45,204,216) 60,473,551

2022 (restated)
Underwriting Investments Real Estate Unallocated Total

Gross contributions 318,999,713 - - -  318,999,713 
Retakaful share of gross contri-
butions

(153,832,812) - - - (153,832,812)

Net retained contributions  165,166,901 - - -  165,166,901 
Movement in unearned contribu-
tions and mathematical reserves

(4,387,020) - - - (4,387,020)

Net earned contributions 160,779,881 - - - 160,779,881
Retakaful commission and other 
takaful income

 26,869,705 - - -  26,869,705 

Change in deferred commission (924,821) - - - (924,821)
Total takaful revenue 186,724,765 - - - 186,724,765

34.	 Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on its business 
activities and has four reportable segments: takaful, investment, real estate and unallocated. 
Takaful segment represents the results of takaful and Retakaful business. Further, takaful 
segment is organized into four major takaful lines – Marine & Aviation, General Accident (Fire, 
General Accident, Energy & Engineering), Motor and Takaful & Medical. These segments are 
the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information. Other operations 
of the Group comprise investment and treasury for the Group’s own account. There are no 
transactions between segments. The operating and administrative expenses and certain other 
expenses are not allocated to the takaful lines for performance monitoring purpose. The data 
with respect to segment information are as follows.

a) Segment consolidated policyholders’ revenues and expenses and shareholders’ income 
statement

Nature of transactions 2023 2022
Board of directors’ remuneration (Note 29) 2,444,964 1,630,000
Salaries and other short-term benefits 4,202,612 3,770,028
Employees’ end of service benefit 54,133 130,008

6,701,709 5,530,036

d)	 Compensation of key management personnel:

2023
Underwriting Investments Real Estate Unallocated Total

Gross contributions 332,982,311 - - - 332,982,311
Retakaful share of gross 
contributions

(147,671,579) - - - (147,671,579)

Net retained contributions 185,310,732 - - - 185,310,732
Movement in unearned 
contributions and 
mathematical reserves

(877,670) - - - (877,670)

Net earned contributions 184,433,062 - - - 184,433,062
Retakaful commission and 
other takaful income

28,503,336 - - - 28,503,336

Change in deferred 
commission

(1,125,516) - - - (1,125,516)

Total takaful revenue 211,810,882 - - - 211,810,882
Gross claims paid (168,286,556) - - - (168,286,556)
Retakaful share of claims paid 52,672,461 - - - 52,672,461
Net claims paid (115,614,095) - - - (115,614,095)
Movement in outstanding 
claims

9,713,617 - - - 9,713,617

Movement in claims incurred 
but not reported and other 
technical reserves

592,441 - - - 592,441

Commission and other takaful 
expenses

(33,401,371) - - - (33,401,371)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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2023
Underwriting Investments Real Estate Unallocated Total

Policyholders’ assets
Cash and bank balances 24,763,022 - - - 24,763,022
Term Deposits 40,950,000 - - - 40,950,000
Investment securities - 16,059,689 - - 16,059,689
Takaful balances receivable 48,211,553 - - - 48,211,553
Retakaful balances receivable 49,846,117 - - - 49,846,117
Retakaful contract assets 166,926,517 - - - 166,926,517
Deferred commission 10,666,396 - - - 10,666,396
Other receivables and prepay-
ments

- - - 13,731,278 13,731,278

Investment properties - - 28,739,797 - 28,739,797
Total policyholders’ assets 341,363,605 16,059,689 28,739,797 13,731,278 399,894,369

Shareholders’ assets
Cash and bank balances - - - 49,085,784 49,085,784
Time deposits - - - 128,750,000 128,750,000
Investment securities - 158,559,655 - - 158,559,655
Takaful balances receivable - - - - -
Retakaful balances receivable - - - - -
Retakaful contract assets 398,721 - - - 398,721
Other receivables and prepay-
ments

- - - 6,642,038 6,642,038

Right-of-use assets - - 27,927,902 - 27,927,902
Investment properties - - 205,859,103 - 205,859,103
Property and equipment - - - 4,870,475 4,870,475
Investments in associate - 57,624,756 - - 57,624,756
Total shareholders’ assets 398,721 216,184,411 233,787,005 189,348,297 639,718,434
Total assets 341,762,326 232,244,100 262,526,802 203,079,575 1,039,612,803

Segment assets and liabilitiesGross claims paid (130,004,819) - - -  
(130,004,819)

Retakaful share of claims paid 50,192,779 - - - 50,192,779 
Net claims paid    (79,812,040) - - -    

(79,812,040)
Movement in outstanding claims  (3,309,264) - - -    (3,309,264)
Movement in claims incurred but 
not reported and other technical 
reserves

(2,324,738) - - - (2,324,738)

Commission and other takaful 
expenses

(33,896,462) - - - (33,896,462)

Total takaful expenses (119,342,504) - - - (119,342,504)
Net surplus from takaful oper-
ations

67,382,261 - - - 67,382,261

Dividend Income - 4,418,007 - - 4,418,007
Net realized gain on sale of 
investments

- 3,265,941 - - 3,265,941

Rental income - - 13,579,310 - 13,579,310
Income from deposits and sukuks - 4,270,129 - - 4,270129
Share of profit from associates - 7,696,669 - - 7,696,669
Loss on sale of investment prop-
erty

- - (137,655) - (137,655)

Gain on disposal of property and 
equipment

- - - (987) (987)

Net provision for impairment - (3,229,107) - (1,726,767) (4,955,874)
Fair value loss on investment 
properties

- - 2,299,446 - 2,299,446

Net investment income - 16,421,639 15,741,101 (1,727,754) 30,434,986
Other income - - - 1,071,055 1,071,055
Depreciation - - (869,762) (1,030,027) (1,899,789)
General and administrative 
expenses

- - - (39,233,571) (39,233,571)

Amortization of deferred ijarah - - (165,495) - (165,495)
Other expenses - - - (4,279,362) (4,279,362)
Board of directors’ remuneration - - - (1,630,000) (1,630,000)
Total other expenses - - (1,035,257) (45,101,905) (46,137,162)
Profit / (loss) before tax 67,382,261 16,421,639 14,705,844 (46,829,659) 51,680,085
Income tax - - - (103) (103)
Profit / (loss) after tax 67,382,261 16,421,639 14,705,844 (46,829,762) 51,679,982

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2022 (restated)
Underwriting Investments Real Estate Unallocated Total

Policyholders’ assets
Cash and bank balances  25,561,444 - - -  25,561,444 
Term Deposits  47,300,000 - - -  47,300,000 
Investments securities - 17,205,614 - - 17,205,614
Takaful balances receivable 55,959,128 - - - 55,959,128
Retakaful balances receivable 63,977,424 - - - 63,977,424
Retakaful contract assets 131,365,734 - - - 131,365,734
Deferred commission 7,613,551 - - - 7,613,551
Other receivables and prepay-
ments

- - - 14,692,999 14,692,999

Investment properties - - 28,448,600 - 28,448,600
Total policyholders’ assets 331,777,281 17,205,614 28,448,600 14,692,999 392,124,494

Shareholders’ assets
Cash and bank balances - - -  44,491,451  44,491,451 
Time deposits - - - 133,750,000 133,750,000 
Investments securities - 109,745,939 - - 109,745,939
Takaful balances receivable  58,240 - - -  58,240 
Retakaful balances receivable  136,808 - - -  136,808 
Retakaful contract assets  398,721 - - -  398,721 
Other receivables and prepay-
ments

- - - 6,256,023 6,256,023

Right-of-use assets - - 33,050,957 - 33,050,957
Investment properties - - 211,478,476 - 211,478,476
Property and equipment - - - 4,156,295 4,156,295
Investments in associate - 52,172,388 - - 52,172,388
Total shareholders’ assets 593,769 161,918,327 244,529,433 188,653,769 595,695,298
Total assets 332,371,050 179,123,941 272,978,033 203,346,768 987,819,792

2023
Underwriting Investments Real Estate Unallocated Total

Policyholder’s liabilities
Takaful contract liabilities 296,086,823 - - - 296,086,823
Deferred commission income 9,276,143 - - - 9,276,143
Accounts payable and other 
liabilities

- - - 26,817,344 26,817,344

Takaful balances payable 16,933,738 - - - 16,933,738
Retakaful balances payable 16,184,848 - - - 16,184,848
Distributable surplus - - - - -
Total policyholders’ liabilities 338,481,552 - - 26,817,344 365,298,896

Shareholders’ liabilities
Takaful contract liabilities 400,000 - - - 400,000
Ijarah liabilities - - 4,136,276 - 4,136,276
Accounts payable and other 
liabilities

- - - 30,076,386 30,076,386

Takaful balances payable 1,060,509 - - - 1,060,509
Retakaful balances payable - - - - -
Provision for income tax - - - 2,173 2,173
Employees’ end of service ben-
efits

- - - 6,669,094 6,669,094

Total shareholders’ liabilities 1,460,509 - 4,136,276 36,747,653 42,344,438
Total Liabilities 339,942,061 - 4,136,276 63,564,997 407,643,334

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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b) 	 Net underwriting results (policyholders’ and shareholders’)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2022 (restated)
Underwriting Investments Real Estate Unallocated Total

Policyholder’s liabilities
Takaful contract liabilities 269,954,428 - - - 269,954,428
Deferred commission income  5,097,782 - - -  5,097,782 
Accounts payable and other 
liabilities

- - - 27,054,846 27,054,846

Takaful balances payable 17,305,922 - - - 17,305,922
Retakaful balances payable 33,911,212 - - - 33,911,212
Distributable surplus 838,490 - - - 838,490
Total policyholders’ liabilities 327,107,834 - - 27,054,846 354,162,680

Shareholders’ liabilities
Takaful contract liabilities 400,000 - - - 400,000
Ijarah liabilities - - 4,396,972 - 4,396,972
Accounts payable and other 
liabilities

- - - 26,388,238 26,388,238

Takaful balances payable 1,060,509 - - - 1,060,509
Provision for income tax - - - 2,276 2,276
Employees’ end of service ben-
efits

- - -  5,908,817  5,908,817 

Total shareholders’ liabilities 1,460,509 - 4,396,972 32,299,331 38,156,812
Total Liabilities 328,568,343 - 4,396,972 59,354,177 392,319,492

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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34.  Segment Information (continued)

c) 	 Business segments

The Group’s main business segments (policyholders’ and shareholders’) are as follows:

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2023:

d) 	 Geographical segments

The Group operates in the State of Qatar only.

Legal claims 
The takaful sector of the Group is subject to litigations and is continuously involved in legal 
proceedings arising in its normal course of business. The Group carries adequate provisions 
against such litigations which are included as part of takaful contract liabilities. 

(1) Bank guarantees and tender bonds

These relates to tenders and guarantees submitted to obtain government takaful contracts 
against QR 1.150 million.

36.	 Basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable 
to shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2022 (restated):

Underwriting Investments Real Estate Unallocated Total
Net income 73,101,474 26,443,788 6,132,505 (45,204,216) 60,473,551
Total assets 341,762,326 232,244,100 262,526,802 203,079,575 1,039,612,803
Total liabilities 339,942,061 - 4,136,276 63,564,997 407,643,334

Underwriting Investments Real Estate Unallocated Total
Net income 67,382,261 16,421,639 14,705,844 (46,829,762) 51,679,982
Total assets 332,371,050 179,123,941 272,978,033 203,346,768 987,819,792
Total liabilities 328,568,343                    -   4,396,972 59,354,177 392,319,492

35.	 Contingent liabilities and capital commitments

2023 2022
Bank guarantees (1) 437,500 1,028,479
Tender bond (1) 712,940 1,886,000

2023 2022 (Restated)
Profit / (loss) attributable to shareholders 64,574,585 56,543,692
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (*) 255,279,020 255,279,020
Basic earnings per share (QR) 0.253 0.221
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managing takaful and investments risks for profit. The Group’s lines of business are mainly 
exposed to the following risks.

•	 Takaful risk,
•	 Retakaful risk,
•	 Credit risk,
•	 Liquidity risk,
•	 Market risks, and
•	 Equity risk

Takaful risk
The principal risk the Group faces under takaful contracts is that the actual claims and benefits 
payments or the timing thereof, differ from expectations. This is influenced by the frequency 
of claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid and subsequent development of long-term 
claims. Therefore, the objective of the Group is to ensure that sufficient reserves are available 
to cover these liabilities.

The Group manages the takaful risk through the careful selection and implementation of its 
underwriting strategy guidelines together with the adequate Retakaful arrangements and 
proactive claims handling.

The Group principally issues general takaful contracts which constitute mainly marine and 
aviation, Motor, Fire and general, and Takaful and health. The concentration of takaful risk 
exposure is mitigated by diversifying the risk underwritten and ensuring that such risks are 
across a large portfolio in terms of type, level of insured benefits, amount of risk and industry.

The Group, in the normal course of business, in order to minimize financial exposure arising from 
large claims, enters into contracts with other parties for Retakaful purposes. Such Retakaful 
arrangements provide for greater diversification of business, allow management to control 
exposure to potential losses arising from large risks, and provide additional capacity for growth. 
A significant portion of the Retakaful is affected under treaty, facultative and excess-of-loss 
Retakaful contracts. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent 
with the outstanding claims provision and are in accordance with the Retakaful contracts.

Although the Group has Retakaful arrangements, it is not relieved of its direct obligations to 
its policyholders and thus a credit exposure exists with respect to ceded takaful, to the extent 
that any reinsurer is unable to meet its obligations assumed under such Retakaful agreements. 
The Group’s placement of Retakaful is diversified such that it is neither dependent on a single 
reinsurer nor are the operations of the Group substantially dependent upon any single Retakaful 
contract.

The Group has in place strict claim review to assess all new and ongoing claims, regular 
detailed review of claims handling procedures and frequent investigation of possible fraudulent 
claims to reduce the risk exposure of the Group. The Group further enforces a policy of actively 
managing and prompt pursuing of claims, in order to reduce its exposure to unpredictable 
future developments that can negatively impact the Group.

In accordance with Takaful framework, the Group’s shareholders do not bear the risks associated 
with takaful operations where it uses takaful fund, retained surplus and Retakaful agreements 
to mitigate such risks. In case of insufficient funds in the takaful fund to meet its obligations, the 
Group grants it an interest free loan and repayable in a number of years that to be determined 
by the Group’s board of directors after consultation with Sharia Supervisory Board.

*There were no potentially dilutive shares outstanding at any time during the period. Therefore, 
the diluted earnings per share are equal to the basic earnings per share.

37.	 Financial instruments and risk management

Governance framework

The primary objective of the Group’s risk and financial management framework is to protect the 
Group’s shareholders from events that hinder the sustainable achievement of the set financial 
performance objectives. Key management recognizes the critical importance of having efficient 
and effective risk management systems in place.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Group’s risk management framework. The board of directors meets regularly to assess and 
identify the Group’s risk, to review structure to ensure the appropriate quality and diversification 
of assets, and to ensure that underwriting and retakaful are in line with the Group’s strategy 
and goals. The Group’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility to identify and analyses the 
risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 
adherence to limits.

Regulatory framework 

The Qatar Central Bank Executive Insurance Instructions provide the regulatory framework for 
the insurance industry in Qatar. All insurance companies operating in Qatar are required to 
follow these rules and regulations. 

The following are the key regulations governing the operation of the Group: 
•	 Internal systems and controls. 
•	 Risk management. 
•	 Accounting, auditing, and actuarial reporting; and 
•	 Prudential requirement. 

The Group’s Board of directors is responsible for monitoring compliance with the above 
regulations and has delegated authorities and responsibilities from the board of directors to 
ensure compliance. 

Capital management framework

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors 
monitors the return on capital, which the group defines as net operating income divided by 
total shareholders’ equity. The Group’s objectives when managing capital is: 	

•	 To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue 
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

•	 To provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing takaful and investment 
contracts commensurately with the level of risk.

The capital structure of the Group consists of issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.

The Group in the normal course of its business derives its revenue mainly from assuming and 
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contract holders and the risk management procedures adopted. The compensation paid on 
these contracts is the monetary awards granted for the loss suffered by the policyholders or 
third parties (for third party liability covers).

The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling claims, net of 
the expected subrogation values and other recoveries. The Group takes all reasonable steps 
to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claim’s exposures. However, given 
the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the final outcome will prove to 
be different from the original liability established. The liability for these contracts comprise a 
provision for IBNR, a provision for reported claims not yet paid and a provision for unexpired 
risks as at the consolidated statement of financial position date.

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims (both reported and not), the Group’s 
estimation techniques are a combination of loss-ratio-based estimates (where the loss ratio is 
defined as the ratio between the ultimate cost of takaful claims and takaful premiums earned 
in a particular financial year in relation to such claims) and an estimate based upon actual 
claims experience using predetermined formula where greater weight is given to actual claims 
experience as time passes. An actuarial valuation is done every year to ensure the adequacy 
of the reserves.

Claims development:
The Group maintains strong reserves in respect of its takaful business in order to protect against 
adverse future claims experience and developments. The uncertainties about the amount and 
timing of claim payments are generally resolved within one year. 

Process used to decide on assumptions:
The risks associated with these takaful contracts are complex and subject to a number of 
variables that complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis. The exposure of the Group to claims 
associated with general takaful is material. This exposure is concentrated in Qatar where 
significant transactions take place.

The Group uses assumptions based on a mixture of internal and actuarial report to measure 
its general takaful related claims liabilities. Internal data is derived mostly from the Group’s 
monthly claims reports and screening of the actual takaful contracts carried out at year-end 
to derive data for the contracts held. The Group has reviewed the individual contracts and their 
actual exposure to claims. This information is used to develop scenarios related to the latency 
of claims that are used for the projections of the ultimate number of claims.

The table below sets out the concentration of outstanding claims provision by type of contract:

2023 2022
Gross 

Reserves
Retakaful 
Reserves

Net 
Reserves

Gross 
Reserves

Retakaful 
Reserves

Net 
Reserves

Marine and aviation 5,668,577 (5,186,542) 482,035 5,134,647 (4,761,120) 373,527
General accident 82,052,184 (75,732,263) 6,319,921 52,854,307 (46,963,359) 5,890,948
Motor 25,315,603 (4,990,457) 20,325,146 34,761,820 (4,120,268) 30,641,552
Takaful and Medical 4,269,386 (3,172,924) 1,096,462 3,946,973 (2,915,819) 1,031,154

117,305,750 (89,082,186) 28,223,564 96,697,747 (58,760,566) 37,937,181

- Key assumptions - Takaful risk
The principal assumption underlying the liability estimates is that the Group’s future claims 
development will follow a similar pattern to past claims development experience. This includes 
assumptions in respect of average claim costs, claim handling costs, claim inflation factors and 
claim numbers for each accident year. Additional qualitative judgments are used to assess the 
extent to which past trends may not apply in the future, for example one-off occurrence changes 
in market factors such as public attitude to claiming, economic conditions, as well as internal 
factors such as portfolio mix, policy conditions and claims handling procedures. Judgment 
is further used to assess the extent to which external factors such as judicial decisions and 
government legislation affect the estimated. Other key circumstances affecting the reliability 
of assumptions include variation in interest rates, delays in settlement and changes in foreign 
currency rates.

- Frequency and severity of claims
The frequency and severity of claims can be determined after consideration of several factors 
as follows:

-	 Past experience of the claims.
-	 Economic level.
-	 Laws and regulations; and
-	 Public awareness 

The Group manages these risks through its underwriting strategy, adequate Retakaful 
arrangements and proactive claims handling. The underwriting strategy attempts to ensure 
that the underwritten risks are well diversified in terms of type and amount of risk, industry, and 
geography.

Underwriting limits are in place to enforce appropriate risk selection criteria. For example, the 
Group has the right not to renew individual policies, it can impose deductibles and it has the 
right to reject the payment of a fraudulent claim. The Group has the right to re-price the risk on 
renewal. Takaful contracts also entitle the Group to pursue third parties for payment of some or 
all costs (for example, subrogation). The Retakaful arrangements include proportional and non-
proportional coverage. The effect of such Retakaful arrangements is that the Group should not 
suffer major takaful losses. 

The Group has specialized claims units dealing with the mitigation of risks surrounding general 
takaful claims. This unit investigates, adjusts and settles all general takaful claims. The general 
takaful claims are reviewed individually regularly and adjusted to reflect the latest information 
on the underlying facts, current law, jurisdiction, contractual terms and conditions, and other 
factors. The Group actively manages settlements of general takaful claims to reduce its 
exposure to unpredictable developments.

Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments
Claims on general takaful contracts are payable on a claims-occurrence basis. The Group 
is liable for all insured events that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the loss 
is discovered after the end of the contract term. As a result, a larger element of the claims 
provision relates to incurred but not reported claims (IBNR) which are settled over a short to 
medium term period.

There are several variables that affect the amount and timing of cash flows from these contracts. 
These mainly relate to the inherent risks of the business activities carried out by individual 
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Management considers that its cash at bank has low credit risk based on the above external 
credit ratings of the counterparties, which are all at “investment grade” (above Baa3). Impairment 
on cash at bank has been measured on a 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short-
term maturities of the exposures.

The carrying amounts of the cash at bank of the Group did not require any adjustment because 
the result of applying the ECL model was immaterial.

Age analysis

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Cash at bank
The Group’s cash at bank is held with banks which were rated by Moody’s as shown in the table 
below:

< 60 days 61 to 120 days 121 to 180 
days

181 to above 
365 days

Total

Takaful balance receivable 20,389,810 15,014,185 4,345,877 11,539,341 51,289,213
Retakaful receivable 23,828,964 10,484,841 5,579,017 12,350,849 52,243,671
Total 44,218,774 25,499,026 9,924,894 23,890,190 103,532,884

< 60 days 61 to 120 days 121 to 180 
days

181 to above 
365 days

Total

Takaful balance receivable 22,999,973 17,995,943 5,695,815 11,925,028 58,616,759
Retakaful receivable 21,970,029 19,489,471 14,254,340 10,631,240 66,345,080
Total 44,970,002 37,485,414 19,950,155 22,556,268 124,961,839

Note 2023 2022
Credit risk exposure by financial assets 
type:
Cash at bank 6 73,228,346 70,051,895
Time deposits 6 169,700,000 181,050,000
Investment securities 7 35,280,352 -
Takaful receivables 8 51,289,213 58,616,759
Retakaful receivables 9 52,243,671 66,345,080
Other receivables 11 102,353,340 102,456,704
Total exposure 484,094,922 478,520,438

2023 2022
Credit ratings

A1 111,879,770    126,073,959 
A2 76,639,031      44,378,982 
Ba2 429,049  340,872 
Baa1 53,980,496  80,308,082 
Total 242,928,346 251,101,895

Sensitivity analysis
The reasonableness of the estimation process is tested by an analysis of sensitivity around 
several scenarios. 

The sensitivity of the Company’s income to takaful risks is as follows:

The sensitivity to a 5% increase/decrease in gross loss ratios is the same both net and gross of 
Retakaful as this increase does not result in any material excess of loss Retakaful limits being 
reached.

Retakaful risk
The Group, in the normal course of business, in order to minimize financial exposure arising from 
large claims, enters into contracts with other parties for Retakaful purposes. Such Retakaful 
arrangements provide for greater diversification of business, allow management to control 
exposure to potential losses arising from large risks, and provide additional capacity for growth. 
A significant portion of the Retakaful is affected under treaty, facultative and excess-of-loss 
Retakaful contracts.

To minimize its exposure to significant losses from Retakaful insolvencies, the Group evaluates 
the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors concentrations of credit risk arising from 
similar geographic regions, activities or economic characteristics of the reinsurers.

The Group only deals with reinsurers approved by the management, which are generally 
international companies that are rated by international rating agencies or other GCC. 

Retakaful ceded contracts do not relieve the Group from its obligations to policyholders and as 
a result the Group remains liable for the portion of outstanding claims reinsured to the extent 
that the reinsurer fails to meet the obligations under the Retakaful agreements.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation 
and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. For all classes of financial assets held by the 
Group, the maximum credit risk exposure to the Group is the carrying value as disclosed in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

A credit risk policy setting out the assessment and determination of what constitutes credit risk 
for the Group has been established and policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the 
Group’s exposure to credit risk:

Compliance with the policy is monitored and exposures and breaches are regularly reviewed 
for pertinence and for changes in the risk environment.

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement 
of financial position:

Change in 
assump-

tions

2023 2022
Impact on net 

earned 
contributions

Impact on 
equity

Impact on  
net earned 

contributions

Impact on 
equity

Loss ratio +5% 9,221,653 (9,221,653) 8,038,994 (8,038,994)
Takaful and Medical -5% (9,221,653) 9,221,653      (8,038,994)    8,038,994 
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors 
specific to the individual security, or its issuer, or factors affecting all securities traded in the 
market. The Group limits market risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio and by continuous 
monitoring of developments in international and local equity and bond markets. In addition, 
The Group actively monitors the key factors that affect stock and bond market movements, 
including analysis of the operational and financial performance of investees.

i.	 Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Qatari Riyal is effectively pegged 
to the United Stated dollars and thus currency risk occurs only in respect of currencies other 
than the United States Dollar. The Group’s exposure to currency risk is minimal, since most of 
the transactions are either in Qatari Riyals or in US Dollars.

ii.	 Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk related to the Islamic security deposits.

Fair value sensitivity analysis for variable interest rate
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased or 
(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that 
all other variables remain constant.

Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate 
risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual 
financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in 
the market.

The Group’s equity price risk exposure relates to financial assets whose values will fluctuate as 
a result of changes in market prices.

The Group limits equity price risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio and by monitoring the 
developments in equity markets. The majority of the Group’s equity investments comprise 
securities quoted on the Qatar Exchange.  

31 December 2022 (restated) Up to a year 1 to 5 years Total
Financial and takaful liabilities
Takaful balance payable 18,366,431 - 18,366,431
Retakaful balance payable 33,911,212 - 33,911,212
Takaful contract liabilities 270,354,428 - 270,354,428
Payables and other liabilities 53,443,084 - 53,443,084
Ijarah Liabilities 46,804 263,644 310,448
Total 376,121,959 263,644 376,385,603

Profit or (Loss)
31 December 

2023
31 December 

2022
Cash flow sensitivity – Call / deposit accounts 1,697,000 1,810,500

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 
commitments associated with financial liabilities.

Liquidity requirements are monitored on a daily/weekly/monthly basis and management 
ensures that sufficient funds are available to meet any commitments as they arise.

- Maturity profiles
The table below summarizes the undiscounted maturity profile of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities of the Group based on remaining undiscounted contractual obligations, 
including interest payable and receivable. For takaful contracts liabilities and Retakaful assets, 
maturity profiles are determined based on estimated timing of net cash outflows from the 
recognized takaful liabilities. Unearned contributions and the reinsurer’s share of unearned 
contributions have been excluded from the analysis as they are not contractual obligations. 

31 December 2023 Up to a year 1 to 5 years Total

Financial and takaful assets

Investment securities 7,300,000 24,923,922 32,223,922
Takaful receivables 48,211,553 - 48,211,553
Retakaful contract assets 167,325,238 - 167,325,238
Retakaful receivables 49,846,117 - 49,846,117
Time deposits 169,600,000 100,000 169,700,000
Cash and cash equivalents 73,848,806 - 73,848,806
Total 516,131,714 25,023,922 541,155,636

31 December 2022 (restated) Up to a year 1 to 5 years Total
Investment securities - 7,300,000 7,300,000 
Takaful receivables 56,017,368 - 56,017,368
Retakaful contract assets 131,764,455 - 131,764,455
Retakaful receivables 64,114,232 - 64,114,232
Time deposits      180,950,000 100,000    181,050,000 
Cash and cash equivalents       70,052,895 - 70,052,895 
Total 502,898,950 7,400,000 510,298,950

31 December 2023 Up to a year 1 to 5 years Total

Financial and takaful liabilities

Takaful balance payable 17,994,247 - 17,994,247
Retakaful balance payable 16,184,848 - 16,184,848
Takaful contract liabilities 296,486,823 - 296,486,823
Payables and other liabilities 56,893,730 - 56,893,730
Ijarah Liabilities 48,676 274,190 322,866
Total 387,608,324 274,190 387,882,514
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Accounting classification and fair values of asset and liabilities

As at 31 December 2023:
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Changes in 
equity prices

Effect on equity / Income 
statement

Effect on profit

2023

Investments at fair value through equity ±5% 6,601,949 -
2022

Investments at fair value through equity ±5% 5,982,578 -

Capital Management
The Group’s capital management policy for its takaful and non–takaful business is to hold sufficient 
capital to cover the statutory requirements based on the Qatar Central Bank’s instructions, 
including any additional amounts required by the regulator as well as to maintain investor, 
creditor, and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Group 
monitors the return on capital, which is defined as profit for the year divided by total equity.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital is:
-	 To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to 

provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
-	 To provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing takaful and investment contracts 

commensurately with the level of risk.

The operations of the Group are also subject to regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions 
in which it operates. Such regulations not only prescribe approval and monitoring of activities, 
but also impose certain restrictive provisions (e.g., capital adequacy) to minimize the risk of 
default and insolvency on the part of the takaful companies to meet unforeseen liabilities 
as they arise. The Group and its regulated subsidiaries in general have complied with the 
requirements throughout the financial year. In reporting financial strength, capital and solvency 
are measured using the rules prescribed by the Qatar Central Bank. These regulatory capital 
tests are based upon required levels of solvency, capital and a series of prudent assumptions 
in respect of the type of business written.

38.	 Fair value measurement

The Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at amortized cost and not at fair value.  
Management believes that the carrying values of these financial assets and financial liabilities 
as at the reporting date are a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments by valuation technique.

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded   
fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3: Techniques that use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair values are 
not based on observable market data.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the effect of cumulative changes in fair value 
of the Group to reasonably possible changes in the prices of equities, with all other variables 
held constant. The effect of change in equity prices is expected to be equal and opposite to the 
effect of the increase shown.
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During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no transfers between 
Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value 
measurements. 

The reconciliation of Level 3 is as follows

Sensitivity information for unquoted equity investments

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorised within 
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s unquoted equity investments is based on 
the price-to-earnings ratio in which the value of unquoted shares is related to the earnings 
attributable to each share rather than the dividend payable on such share.

A 5% variation in the valuation will result in the value of unquoted equity investments to increase/
decrease by QR 937,357 (2022: QR 937,357).

39.	 Mudarabah and Wakala fees

Mudarabah fees are calculated at a rate of 70% (2022: 70%) of the net income received on 
the investments of the policyholders. The actual rate for each year is determined by the Sharia 
Supervisory Board after co-ordination with the Company’s Board of Directors.

The Wakala fee is provided to shareholders at the rate of 26% (2022: 26%) of gross written 
contribution (excluding 100% gross written contribution from fronting business). 

40.	 Zakat

The articles of Association of the Group do not authorize management to pay Zakat on behalf 
of the shareholders. The responsibility of paying Zakat rests with the shareholders.

41.	 Dividend declared and paid

The Board of Directors has proposed in their meeting to distribute cash dividends of QR 0.12 
per share amounting to QR 30,633,500. The proposed dividends are subject to the approval 
of the General Assembly meeting.

The Board of Directors has proposed in their meeting dated 21 February 2023 to distribute 
cash dividends of QR 0.1 per share amounting to QR 25,527,920. The proposed dividends have 
been approved in the General Assembly meeting dated 15 March 2023.

The Board of Directors has proposed in their meeting dated 28 February 2022 to distribute 
cash dividends of QR 0.075 per share amounting to QR 19,145,927. The proposed dividends 
have been approved in the General Assembly meeting dated 22 March 2022.

Policyholder Shareholder
31 December 

2023
31 December 

2022
31 December 

2023
31 December 

2022
At the beginning of the year - - 18,747,140 26,577,139
Fair value losses during the year - - - -

Redemption during the year - - - (7,829,999)
At the ending of the year - - 18,747,140 18,747,140

As at 31 December 2022 (restated):
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* The adjustments to investment properties relates to a decrease in the net fair value of the 
investment properties amounting to QR 6,789,017 and a reversal of accumulated depreciation 
on the investment properties amounting to QR 5,667,228.

* The adjustments to investment properties relates to a decrease in the net fair value of the 
investment properties amounting to QR 44,767,933 and a reversal of accumulated depreciation 
on the investment properties amounting to QR 42,025,299.

** The adjustment to real estate reserves pertains to the gain on investment properties having 
fair value more than the cost whereas the adjustment to retained earnings pertains to the loss 
on investment properties having fair value lower than the cost less reversal of accumulated 
depreciation.

* The adjustments to investment properties relates to a decrease in the net fair value of the 
investment properties amounting to QR 6,789,017 and a reversal of accumulated depreciation 
on the investment properties amounting to QR 6,539,732.

Consolidated statement of 
financial position

As at 1 January 2022 as 
previously stated and 

reclassified

Adjustment As at 1 January 2022 
as restated

Policyholders’ assets

Investment properties* 29,570,389 (1,121,789) 28,448,600
Policyholders’ equity
Retained surplus 35,818,764 (1,121,789) 34,696,975

Consolidated statement of 
financial position

As at 1 January 2022 as 
previously stated and 

reclassified

Adjustment As at 1 January 2022 
as restated

Shareholders’ assets

Investment properties 
(Note 42 a)*

209,843,861 (2,742,634) 207,101,227

Shareholders’ equity

Real estate reserve** - 26,542,764 26,542,764
Retained earnings** 7,788,040 (29,285,398) (21,497,358)

Consolidated statement of 
financial position

As at 31 December 2022 
as previously stated and 

reclassified

Adjustment As at 31 December 
2022 as restated

Policyholders’ assets

Investment properties* 28,697,885 (249,285) 28,448,600
Policyholders’ equity

Retained surplus 31,615,506 (249,285) 31,366,221

42.	 Comparative figures, reclassification and restatement of prior year financial statements

(a)	 Reclassification related to statement of financial position

The comparative figures presented have been reclassified where necessary in order to preserve 
consistency with the current year bifurcated figures between investment properties owned by 
the entity and right-of-use assets to comply with the applicable financial reporting framework 
while applying fair value model on entity owned investment properties effective from 1 January 
2023. Further, the comparative figure of takaful balance payable and distributable surplus 
have been reclassified where necessary to preserve consistency in the nature of the balances 
presented in the group consolidated financial statements and the non-significant component. 
However, such reclassifications did not have any effect on the net profit or the total equity for 
the comparative year.

(b)	 Restatement of prior years’ financial statements

The Group has decided to change the measurement model of its investment properties and 
apply fair value model effective from 1 January 2023. Previously, the group measured its 
investment properties using cost model. The change in the accounting policy has been applied 
retrospectively. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2021 and 2022 have been restated due to the change in the accounting policy on 
the investment property measurement.

The effects of the restatement to the consolidated financial statements are summarized below:

As at 1 January 2022 Amount as previously 
stated

Reclassification Amount after 
reclassification

Shareholders’ Assets

Investment properties 243,764,580 (33,920,719) 209,843,861
Right of use assets - 33,920,719 33,920,719

Takaful balances payable 21,405,280 (838,490) 20,566,790
Distributable surplus 1,618,852 838,490 2,457,342
Total 266,788,712 - 266,788,712

As at 31 December 2022 Amount as previously 
stated

Reclassification Amount after reclas-
sification

Shareholders’ Assets

Investment properties 237,873,326 (33,050,957) 204,822,369
Right of use assets - 33,050,957 33,050,957

Takaful balances payable 18,144,412 (838,490) 17,305,922
Distributable surplus - 838,490 838,490
Total 256,017,738 - 256,017,738
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* The adjustments to investment properties relates to a decrease in the net fair value of the 
investment properties amounting to QR 38,416,628 and a reversal of accumulated depreciation 
on the investment properties amounting to QR 45,072,735.

** The adjustment to real estate reserves pertains to the gain on investment properties having 
fair value more than the cost whereas the adjustment to retained earnings pertains to the loss 
on investment properties having fair value lower than the cost less reversal of accumulated 
depreciation.

As at 31 December 2022 
as previously stated and 

reclassified

Adjustment As at 31 December 
2022 as restated

Shareholders’ assets

Investment properties (Note 42 a) 204,822,369 6,656,107 211,478,476
Shareholders’ equity

Legal reserve 251,133,353 464,829 251,598,182
Real estate reserve** - 30,193,722 30,193,722
Retained earnings** 27,551,442 (24,002,444) 3,548,998

Consolidated statement of 
policyholders’ revenues and 
expenses

As at 31 December 2022 
as previously stated and 

reclassified

Adjustment As at 31 December 
2022 as restated

Depreciation 872,504 (872,504) -
Consolidated income statement

Net realized gain on sale of invest-
ment property

248,787 (248,787) -

Loss on sale of investment property - (137,655) (137,655)
Depreciation 5,734,568 (3,834,779) 1,899,789
Fair value gain / (loss) on invest-
ment properties

- 2,299,446 2,299,446

Basic and diluted earnings per share 
(QR per share)

0.199 0.022 0.221

43.	 Subsequent events

There were no significant events after the reporting date, which have bearing on the 
understanding of these consolidated financial statements.

44.	 Potential impact of economic uncertainties

The Group does not hold any exposures to countries directly involved in the recent international 
disputes. However, the Group has considered any potential impact of the current economic 
uncertainties in determination of the reported amounts of the financial and non-financial assets, 
where relevant, and these are considered to represent the management’s best assessment 
based on observable information. Markets however remain volatile and the recorded amounts 
remain sensitive to market fluctuations.

45.	 Approval of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized 
for issue on 14 February 2024.
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